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Corporate Information
NEIER

Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Dr Yeung Yung (Chairman)

Mr Feng Rui (Chief Executive Officer)
(Resigned with effect from 5 March 2024)

Mr Liu Stephen Quan

Mr Li Zhengshan

Mr Chen Xiao

Non-executive Director
Dr Xia Tingkang, Tim

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Dr Zhu Guobin
Mr Cheng Tat Wa

(Resigned with effect from 21 March 2024)
Dr Li Jianyong
Mr Chan Sin Hang

(Resigned with effect from 21 March 2024)
Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace

(Resigned with effect from 2 February 2024)
Mr On Ka Shing

(Appointed with effect from 21 March 2024)

Company Secretary

Mr Leung Kai Yin (Resigned with effect from 2 February 2024)
Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace

(Appointed with effect from 2 February 2024 and

resigned with effect from 9 April 2024)
Ms Lam Wing Tung

(Appointed with effect from 2 February 2024 and

resigned with effect from 9 April 2024)

Auditor

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

23/F, Tower 2, Enterprise Square Five
38 Wang Chiu Road,

Kowloon Bay, Kowloon,

Hong Kong

Principal Bankers
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
1 Queen’s Road

Central, Hong Kong

Bank of Communications Co. Ltd.
20 Pedder Street, Central, Hong Kong
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Corporate Information

Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong

Unit 1002, 10th Floor, Infinitus Plaza
199 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

Registered Office

Victoria Place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 10
Bermuda

Hong Kong Legal Advisor

Michael Li & Co.

Rooms 1901A, 1902 & 1902A, 19/F,
New World Tower I,

16-18 Queen’s Road Central,
Central, Hong Kong

Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Office

Ocorian Management (Bermuda) Limited
Victoria Place, 5th Floor

31 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM 10

Bermuda

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and
Transfer Office

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
17M Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East
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Chairman’s Statement

FTRHmE=
Dear Shareholders,

Since the outbreak of COVID-19 at the end of December
2019, the global business environment and economy were
fundamentally re-shaped. The prolonged COVID-19 pandemic
had continued to pose significant challenges to the automotive
industry, and no industry player in the automotive industry was
immune to the effects of COVID-19. The Group's research and
development progress was seriously affected as remote working
had prevented us from keeping optimal working efficiency.

And now, the end of the pandemic is in sight, the Company is
confident that the Group will gradually catch up as the global
economy recovers, and will strive to achieve the next success
milestone in the automotive industry.

Beijing's 20 measures issued by the government of the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) in mid-November 2022 which led to
rollbacks in mass testing, quarantine and mobility restrictions to
suit the new norm, the stabilizing US-China relationship, and the
policy shift from Central Economics Work Conference in favour of
private enterprise, platform economy and domestic consumption
are all having positive impact to the development of the Company.

The Management is demonstrating unwavering efforts and
commitment in seeking potential collaborations and investment
opportunities for the Group with a view to improving the
liquidity, operation and performance of the Group in the long
run. Nevertheless, the Group will continue to source, identify
and secure quality manufacturers and/or suppliers with high-level
engineering and/or manufacturing capacities internationally for
the Group's automotive innovations and products.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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Chairman’'s Statement

We have noticed that there is a new round of investment
wave into clean energy following the strong recovery of the US
economy, especially by way of financial instruments such as Special
Purpose Acquisition Company. Our Board has made the most out
of the precious time during the lockdown to maintain constant
and in-depth discussions via remote working model with private
equity firms, investment banks, law firms and other partners so
as to explore new ways, as well as to devise and implement new
plans for raising capital for the Group. The Group will double its
efforts, work harder than ever, grasp every opportunity to expand
the development space, and make up for lost time in 2022 and
2023 during 2024.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all shareholders,
directors and employees of the Group for their tremendous
support!

Yeung Yung
Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024

THEHRES

KRR EED ERLERRTHERA R
M—EEZERRENHE BRI 2BBF
BREHENREARESMIAN AR
EEERNVNBERNMENEERRE 75
EEMAASNENEREAT KIT B
EEEBHAREEUER ERER Bl
REMNEE B SIEMEHEMNES T
BloAREBBKERPB -NEE > FHE
FRREGERER TR NFEIE
TR IECFRANFREERIZK

FAABERURR - BEFMNETIHARAXFE
NS il

ZE
R

HBH “_E-MFE=-A"+/\H

EEEEBRAT —Z_=FFR

05



06

Biographical Detalls of Directors and Senior Management

SEMEREEEREFIE

Below are the biographical details of the Directors and the Senior
Management of the Group during the Year and as at the date of
this annual report.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr YEUNG Yung ({PE#), aged 66, was appointed as executive
director of the Company in November 1998, and is the Chairman
of the Group, the chairman of the nomination committee and a
member of the remuneration committee of the Board. Dr Yeung
is also a substantial shareholder of the Company. Dr Yeung
holds a PhD Degree in Economics from the China’s Southwest
University of Finance & Economics. Dr Yeung was elected as a
director of the John Hopkins University Center — Nanjing University
Centre for Chinese and American Studies (13X 1E3Z AR L)
FEE) . Dr Yeung was the chairman, chief executive officer and
president of Brilliance China Automotive Holdings Limited and
also the chairman and president of Shenyang Jinbei Passenger
Vehicle Manufacture Co., Ltd. from 1992 to 2002. Dr Yeung
is a well-known, highly successful automotive industrialist with
over 20 years' experience in the automobile industry as well as a
pioneering international financier from China.

Mr Feng Rui ({&#H), aged 50, was appointed as executive
director of the Company and chief executive officer of the
Group with effect from 1 January 2020. He was graduated from
the Shanghai University of Finance and Economics majoring in
Investment, Economics and Financial Management (& & &%
&1%)and holds a Master's degree in Business Administration
in Executive Management from Royal Roads University of
Canada. Mr Feng is a member of the Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and has approximately 30 years of experience in the
fields of finance and corporate management. He has joined the
Group since August 2014 and is currently a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr Feng resigned as executive director of the Company and chief
executive officer of the Group, and ceased to hold any office or
position with the Group, with effect from 5 March 2024.

Mr LIU Stephen Quan (ZI3R), aged 69, was appointed as
executive director of the Company in October 2007. Mr Liu holds
a Master's Degree in business, economics and finance from the
China Europe International Business School (CEIBS). Mr Liu has
extensive knowledge and experience in the management of supply
chain business. He has been in the investment management
industry for more than 15 years and was one of the founders of
several industrial companies and investment companies in China
and the US.
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Biographical Detalls of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr LI Zhengshan (ZIF L), aged 52, was appointed as executive
director of the Company in June 2010. Mr Li holds a Master of
Arts Degree in English language and literature from the Shanghai
International Studies University. He has been the Executive
Assistant to Dr Yeung Yung, the Chairman of the Company, since
2003 and the deputy general manager of the PRC investment
division of the Company. He is currently a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He is responsible for corporate
coordination and business development of the Group in China.

Mr CHEN Xiao (FB%), aged 50, was appointed as executive
director of the Company in November 2014. Mr Chen has
joined the Group since April 2008. He has been one of the
senior management of the Group and has been assuming
the role of director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr Chen is primarily responsible for identifying, evaluating,
participating in commercial negotiations and financial planning
for the implementation of potential projects for the Group in
the PRC. Mr Chen was graduated from the Shanghai University
of Finance and Economics (LE/8EFARKEE)in 1994, majoring
in Investment, Economics and Financial Management (3% &#%
BEEIE). He has extensive experience in the areas of securities
investment, corporate finance, capital management and merger
and acquisition in the PRC.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr XIA Tingkang, Tim (B M), aged 68, was appointed as
non-executive director of the Company in June 2010. Dr Xia was
an independent non-executive director of Jian ePayment Systems
Limited where its listing on the The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) was cancelled on 29 January
2021. Dr Xia holds a Bachelor's Degree from Peking University,
the PRC, a PhD in Physics from The Ohio State University, the US
and a Juris Degree from the Columbia University School of Law,
the US. Dr Xia is currently a senior partner of an international law
firm, Locke Lord LLP, and a registered U.S. patent attorney. Prior to
his legal career, he was a physicist specializing in supercomputing,
large scale computer simulation of complex fluids, super-thin-
films of polymers, and Josephson junction superconducting arrays,
electromagnetic properties of high temperature superconductors,
and physics of granular metals. Dr Xia also counsels clients of
international corporate law.

FEWUWERE BES2R N _E—ZF,<8
ERIAERRBZHTESZ - FTHRERFEL

BINEEARRRBEENBRLTEM KA
“EE-_FEEEFATDEIFEMMEELZ

HITBNER A AT TR G B REE
RR/ERBDETHEBRARZER -KET
FERRPREZEEGARET LR

BREEAE  RES0 R _E—UFE+—A
ERZERTRBAZATESR REENR T
TNFOEMAXER - H—ERTEERS
REERBZz — T —BHEEEARTETHE
NEZEERB -RALETEZEEEYE T
- 2HEERBERAERRNPEZEEERE
ZEEEBRMBRE BRAEER -
FEENLBMERERECEEEEX-
BRAEZEBSRE CXME - BESEE
RiAEESEAEE KR

FEHITES

ELﬁﬁi’i@ﬁ%Sﬁ RIE—ZFE58
BEERERBZIEHITES- %Tﬁi%i‘
EBEEAMBRARZEIIFNTES 5
RERN B —F—AC +haﬁﬁm*
BHMERXZMMAERAE (TH3RFR)) 2 ke
EtRFARALRAZ2E2TE240EH
The Ohio State University¥)IBEaig B2l £2
il &2 =B Columbia University;% £ [z 52218
T2 EF T BRI A BEREMIT& R
EBMzEREBAREFFMET RO
RHEBEZESER B —2YIEER &
ARBRER BHERE 2 KB SER
FEMBEERNBRAFBEEYE SR
BEEREEUHTERNREBYESZ B
Br AR IREBEERASEZER

EEEEBRAT —Z_=FFR

07



08

Biographical Detalls of Directors and Senior Management

SEMEREEEREFIE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr ZHU Guobin ((REIE), aged 62, was appointed as non-
executive director of the Company in July 2010 and re-designated
as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 31
December 2012. Dr Zhu holds a Bachelor’s Degree in history, a
Master's Degree in history and a Master's Degree in law from the
Renmin University of China, a Master’s degree in law from the
University of Hong Kong and a PhD in law and a HDR (Dipléme
d'Habilitation a Diriger des Recherches) from the University of
Aix-Marseilles in France. Dr Zhu is currently a professor of law in
the School of Law of City University of Hong Kong. He is a guest
professor at Shandong University and at Schools of Law of Wuhan
University and Qingdao University in the PRC. He is also a council
member of the Chinese Association of Constitutional Law and
Chinese Judicial Studies Association and a titular member of the
International Academy of Comparative Law. Dr Zhu is an arbitrator
of Wuhan Arbitration Commission, Zhuhai Arbitration Commission
and Qingdao Arbitration Commission, and also an independent
non-executive director of China East Education Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 667) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange), and
a director of The Legal Education Fund Limited (HK), and also a
council member of Hubei Province Overseas Friendship Association.

Mr CHENG Tat Wa (BB3EZE), aged 59, was appointed as
independent non-executive director of the Company in August
2012. He is also the chairman of the audit committee and a
member of the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee of the Board. Mr Cheng holds a Master's Degree in
international accounting from City University of Hong Kong and
a LLB (HONS) from Northumbria University. Mr Cheng is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
He is an associate member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators of Canada and a member of the Certified
General Accountants Association of Canada. He is also a member
of the Institute of Internal Auditors. Mr Cheng has more than 15
years of extensive experience in the business accounting fields.

Mr Cheng resigned as independent non-executive director of

the Company, and ceased to hold any office or position with the
Group, with effect from 21 March 2024.
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Biographical Detalls of Directors and Senior Management

EEE&WI\&H_IE}: %*Di |

Dr LI Jianyong (F¥B), aged 66, was appointed as
independent non-executive director of the Company in December
2012. Dr Li holds a Doctoral Degree in economics from the
Southwestern University of Finance and Economics (75 & B4 4% &
B) . Dr Li obtained the accreditation and qualification of sponsor
representative* (fRE1L# A) from the Securities Association
of China (FEIEZ W E)in 2007. Dr Li had served various
senior positions in GF Securities Company Limited (355855 /%
ABIRAE]). Dr Li was also appointed as the vice-chairman of
the Securities Association of China in 2007. Dr Li has extensive
experience in the securities and investment field in the PRC. Dr Li
is currently a professor of the Chinese Finance Research Institute of
the Southwestern University of Finance and Economics.

Mr CHAN Sin Hang (BR&1%#), aged 39, was appointed as
independent non-executive director of the Company in December
2012. He is also a member of the audit committee of the Board.
Mr Chan holds a Bachelor's Degree in business (accounting) from
the Australian Catholic University. Mr Chan is a full member of
the CPA Australia. He is also a member of HKICPA since March
2013. Mr Chan had been an auditor in CPA firms in Hong Kong,
and a chief financial officer and a company secretary of a financial
services company based in Hong Kong and China. Mr Chan has
more than 10 years of experience in the accounting field, and is
currently a financial controller of a Hong Kong company.

Mr Chan resigned as independent non-executive director of the
Company, and ceased to hold any office or position with the
Group, with effect from 21 March 2024.

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Detalls of Directors and Senior Management

SEMEREEEREFIE

Mr LEE Cheung Yuet, Horace (F#1M), aged 42, was
appointed as independent non-executive director of the Company
in September 2017. He is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee and a member of both the audit committee and
the nomination committee of the Board. He is an independent
non-executive director of Kirin Group Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 8109), Li Bao Ge Group Limited (Stock Code: 1869)
and Diwang Industrial Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Sunlight Technology Holdings Limited) (Stock Code:1950) (all
being companies listed on the Stock Exchange). He was also an
independent non-executive director of Chuan Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 1420) up to 16 June 2020, and Asia Television
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 707) up to 28 December 2022
(both being companies listed on the Stock Exchange). Mr Lee
holds a Bachelor's Degree of Commerce (Accounting) from The
University of Queensland, Australia since 2004. Mr Lee is a Fellow
Member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
since 2014. Mr Lee has over 18 years of working experience in
merger and acquisition, financial reporting, investment analysis
and business development. Mr Lee has been taking up senior
positions in the financial and business sectors for over 12 years
and he also has extensive experience in terms of Hong Kong listed
companies.

Mr Lee resigned as independent non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 2 February 2024.

Mr ON Ka Shing (Z£%&Hk), aged 50, has been appointed
as independent non-executive director of the Company in
March 2024. He holds a Master's Degree of Management in
Financial Management from The Macquarie Graduate School
of Management since 2004. He is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2000. He has over
26 years of working experience in finance, financial reporting and
business development. He has been taking up senior positions in
the financial and business sectors for over 20 years.
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Biographical Detalls of Directors and Senior Management
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr LEUNG Kai Yin (2E{E), aged 37, was appointed as
Company Secretary of the Company in September 2019. He is
also the finance manager of the Company. He holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Information Systems from the City University of Hong
Kong and a Master’s degree in Professional Accounting from Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. Mr Leung is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr Leung has
over 10 years of experience in the fields of accounting, finance
and corporate management.

Mr Leung resigned as Company Secretary of the Company, and
ceased to hold any office or position with the Group, with effect
from 2 February 2024.

Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace was appointed as Joint Company
Secretary of the Company in February 2024 and subsequently
resigned as Joint Company Secretary of the Company and ceased
to hold any office or position with Group, with effect from 9 April
2024.

Ms Lam Wing Tung was appointed as Joint Company Secretary of
the Company in February 2024 and subsequently resigned as Joint
Company Secretary of the Company and ceased to hold any office
or position with Group, with effect from 9 April 2024.
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Directors’ Report
EEEHEE

The directors of the Company (the “Board” or the “Directors”)
are pleased to present to the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”) their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023
(the "Year").

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the development and sale of
battery management systems and spare parts, high-tech electric
motor vehicles, and advanced batteries materials. The Group is
also engaged in the provision of finance leasing services.

The Group has been engaging in the development of electric
vehicles for over a decade. The Group has established a team of
experts with extensive experience and expertise in a wide variety
of applications in the automobile industry, which forms part of
our core strengths in the development of, among other things,
advanced and high quality batteries, battery management systems
and related technologies.

The global automotive industry is on an evolutionary fast track
towards electric mobility. To capture the mass market of the high-
tech electric motor vehicles successfully, the Company has put its
faith in the continuous improvement of higher quality batteries,
parts and technology to provide cleaner, safer and more robust
power for electric vehicles.

In the 2023, the uncertain macroeconomic environment and
the generally cautious and conservative market sentiment had
adversely affected the progress of the Group's development
of electric vehicles, and significantly hindered the negotiation
progress with potential business partners or investors.
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As a result of the aforementioned challenges, coupled with the
uncertainties in the global economy, the business development of
the Group had been significantly disrupted during the Year. The
Group did not record any revenue and gross profit for the Year.

The Group implemented effective and strict cost control policies,
the operating expenses for the Year decreased to approximately
HK$22.4 million (2022: HK$33.9 million), which consisted of
employee benefit expenses (including wages and salaries, pension
costs and other benefits) of approximately HK$13.2 million (2022:
HK$18.4 million).

As a result of the above factors, the loss for the Year of the Group
decreased to approximately HK$22.0 million (2022: HK$620.3
million) and the loss attributable to shareholders for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$21.2 million (2022: HK$644.3
million).

Nevertheless, the Company believes that its continuous efforts
and perseverance will bring the Group’s business development
back on track or even to the next level. These efforts include but
not limited to the research and development of technological
advancement in the automotive industry, reviewing and making
reforms on its on-going projects, exploring, expanding or
reinforcing the cooperation and collaboration with its business
alliances and/or potential business partners. The Company is
confident that the Group will gradually catch up as the global
economy gradually improves in the future and will strive to achieve
the next success milestone in the automotive industry.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group’s revenue and gross profit for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$Nil (2022: HK$Nil) and HK$Nil (2022: HK$NIil).
The loss attributable to shareholders for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$21.9 million (2022: HK$620.3 million). The loss
for the Year was mainly attributable to the administrative expenses
of approximately HK$22.4 million (2022: HK$33.9 million).

The administrative expenses for the Year decreased to
approximately HK$22.4 million (2022: HK$33.9 million) which
was mainly attributed to net of (i) the decrease in depreciation
expenses for the Year and (ii) the decrease in employee benefit
expenses (including wages and salaries, pension costs and other
benefits) from approximately HK$18.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 to HK$13.2 million for the Year.

The uncertain macroeconomic environment and the generally
cautious and conservative market sentiment has significantly
hindered the business development of the Group. In addition, the
Group has experienced unprecedented difficulties in raising capital
for its business development. As such, business development
had remained stagnant during the Year and there was no
significant increase in the revenue and gross profit, or the financial
performance, of the Group for the Year.

PROSPECT AND BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT OF
THE GROUP

The Company has a long-term commitment to the global
automobile industry, which is constantly involving.

Development of electric vehicles

The Group is engaged in development of electric motor vehicle for
over a decade.

After experiencing years of concept and prototype development,
the Group possesses technological capabilities in all major areas
and component for the production of an electric vehicle. After
launching a series of prototypes and concept cars in various
international car shows since 2017, the Group received positive
feedbacks and continued to optimise the prototypes to improve
the competitiveness of its product portfolio.
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Building on the above success, the Company had formulated
a plan to transit into the production stage. As such, the Group
was exploring opportunities to enter into the stage of product
and manufacturing process development, industrialisation
and production. Nevertheless, the operation of the Group
was significantly affected by the outbreak of COVID-19 as the
collaboration between the international research and development
team of the Group was restricted. In addition, the Group's
negotiation with the business partners and authorities for the
establishment of manufacturing bases were also inevitably
suspended. The cautious investment sentiment has further stalled
any negotiation progress with the business partners. As such,
there has been no material development in the transition into the
industrialisation since the outbreak of COVID-19.

Upon gradual recovery of the impact of COVID-19 in the PRC
and in the event the financing opportunities materialise, the
Group may commence its development plan for industrialisation,
including but not limited to (i) renovation of the existing facilities
for assembly area; (ii) procurement and fine-tuning of robotic
arms for production; (iii) optimisation of manufacturing process
and engineering parts of the components; and (iv) obtaining the
relevant permissions and registration in mass production of electric
vehicles in the PRC.

Proposed acquisition

To facilitate the development of electric vehicles and expansion
of manufacturing capability of components of electric vehicles,
the Group has continued to identify potential collaboration or
acquisition opportunities.

On 28 August 2022, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement for a proposed acquisition of the entire
equity interest of Best Knob International Limited together with
its subsidiaries, (the “"Target Group”) (the “Acquisition”), which
are principally engaged in manufacturing of automobile parts,
including transmission gearbox, systems and accessories. Details
of the Acquisition are disclosed in the announcements of the
Company dated 17 October 2022, 8 March 2023, 31 August
2023, 30 November 2023 and 1 February 2024.
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Leveraging on the Group’s experience, know-how and technology
in battery systems and designs of high-tech electric motor
vehicles, and the transmission system and customer portfolio of
the Target Group, the Company considers the Acquisition may
create synergy effect by (i) allowing the Group to expand its
manufacturing capability for the industrialisation of its electric
vehicles; (ii) expanding the sales channel of the Group’s products
to leading automobile manufacturers in the PRC; (iii) integrating
the supply of transmission parts of the Target Group together with
the battery packs and system of the Group; and (iv) accelerating
the continuous research and development of battery and electric
vehicle technologies.

In the event the above development plan materialises, the
Company is confident that the Group will secure stable revenue
stream to continue the development of electric vehicles and
improve the profitability of the Group in the future.

Financing opportunities

On top of the ongoing financial support of the Major Shareholder,
the Board has been proactively exploring all possible financial
alternatives including but not limited to equity financing, debt
financing, rights issue, open offer or bank borrowings, to finance
its business development.

In particular, the Company entered into a subscription agreement
for the Subscription in May 2023 as further set out in the section
headed “Fund Raising Activities During the Year” below in this
report.

In the event the above financing opportunities arise, the

Company is confident that it will be able implement its business
development plan to develop the electric vehicle business.
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OTHER INFORMATION

Update on the legal proceedings against members of
the Group

Legal dispute with XALT

As regards the attempts of the Group to settle the dispute and
the subsequent civil lawsuit against the Company and one of
its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Billion Energy Holdings Limited
(“Billion Energy”), initiated in 2017 by Townsend Ventures LLC,
XALT Energy LLC and XALT Energy MI, LLC (collectively, “XALT"),
which centered on the supply agreement dated 25 March 2015
entered into between Billion Energy and XALT Energy M, LLC for
the supply of battery cells (as disclosed and referred to in the 2020
annual report of the Company), the Company had continued to
seek legal advice to prepare for the initiation of the arbitration
proceedings while exploring possible mediation with XALT during
the Year.

Having considered (i) the reasonable efforts made by the Group
to search for the additional information to commence arbitration
proceedings and possible mediation all these years; (ii) the US
Legal Opinion in respect of the laws of the United States as
disclosed herein; and (iii) the Group’s financial condition and
resources currently available to the Company, the Board has
decided not to further pursue legal proceedings in this regard at
this stage.

While it is not entirely within the control of the Company as to
whether or when the legal dispute or civil lawsuit against the
Group will be resolved or concluded, the Group will continue to
make efforts to, among other things, (i) seek professional advice
to explore possibilities of recovering any of the Prepayment; and
(i) proactively approach the new management of XALT to re-
activate the negotiations so as to seek a mutually acceptable
solution to resolve the dispute and the lawsuit amicably and more
expeditiously, seek professional advice on the Group's strategies
over the resolution of the dispute to safeguard the interests of the
Group.

The Company will make further announcement(s) to keep its
shareholders informed of any material development as and when
appropriate.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL

Save as disclosed below, the Group did not have material
acquisition or disposal of assets during the Year and any future
plans for material investment or capital assets.

On 28 August 2022, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement to acquire the entire equity interest of Best
Knob International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability, at a consideration of HK$392 million,
which will be settled by the issuance of promissory notes in the
principal amount of HK$392 million (the “Acquisition”). As at
the date of this report, the Acquisition is yet to be completed.

On 1 February 2024, the Company entered into a supplemental
agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”) to amend certain
terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement. The Consideration
for the Sale Shares shall be revised as HK$228.0 million (the
"Revised Consideration”), which is determined after arm’s
length negotiations between the Company as purchaser and
Best Knob International Limited (“Vendor A") and Chang Da
International Limited (“Vendor B"”), each as a vendor, and the
Revised Consideration shall be settled by the way of issuance of
Promissory Notes, where the principal amount of which shall be
revised as to (i) HK$162,450,000 by the Company to the Vendor
A; and (i) HK$65,550,000 to Vendor B.

Details of the Acquisition are disclosed in the announcements of

the Company dated 17 October 2022, 8 March 2023, 31 August
2023, 30 November 2023 and 1 February 2024.
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FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES DURING THE YEAR

On 29 May 2023, the Company and Mr. Zhou Zuan (the
“Subscriber”) , a third party independent of the Company and
its connected persons, entered into the subscription agreement
(the “Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and the Subscriber
has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the 2-year convertible
bond (the “Convertible Bond”) in the principal amount of
HK$100,000,000 with 5% interest per annum to be issued by
the Company and subscribed by the Subscriber, which may be
converted into a total of 1,000,000,000 new ordinary shares of
the Company of HK$0.10 each (the “Conversion Shares”) to
be allotted and issued by the Company pursuant to the exercise
of the conversion right attached to the Convertible Bond at the
initial conversion price of HK$0.10 per Conversion Share, subject
to the adjustment pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Convertible Bond (the “Subscription”). The initial Conversion
Price per Conversion Share represents a premium of approximately
244.8% over the closing price of HK$0.029 per share of the
Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of the
Subscription Agreement. The net Conversion Price, after deduction
of relevant expenses, is approximately HK$0.0995 per Conversion
Share.

On 28 August 2022, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to acquire the entire equity interest of Best
Knob International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability, at a consideration of HK$392 million
which shall be settled by the issuance of promissory notes by
the Company. Pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement, the
consideration in respect of the Acquisition shall be revised as
HK$228.0 million. For details of the Acquisition, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 17 October 2022, 8
March 2023, 31 August 2023 and 1 February 2024.
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The net proceeds from the Subscription shall amount to
approximately HK$99.5 million. The Company intends to apply
(i) 50% of the net proceeds for the settlement of the promissory
notes to be issued by the Company under the Acquisition; (ii)
30% of the net proceeds as to working capital of the Company
for business development; and (iii) 20% of the net proceeds
as to general working capital of the Company. Details of the
Subscription are disclosed in the announcements of the Company
dated 29 May 2023, 14 June 2023, 3 July 2023, 31 August
2023 and 31 December 2023. As at the date of this report, the
Subscription is yet to be completed.

Save for the Subscription, the Company had not undertaken any
fund raising activity and there were no other transactions in the
securities of the Company or of its subsidiaries during the Year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not hold any significant investments during the
Year.

As at the date of this report, save as disclosed elsewhere in
this report, the Group does not have any plan for significant
investment or capital assets for the year ending 31 December
2024.
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IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER REPORTING
PERIOD

Save for the (a) (i) resignation of Mr Leung Kai Yin, the company
secretary of the Company; (ii) the resignation of Mr Lee Cheung
Yuet, Horace, an independent non-executive director of the
Company; and (iii) the appointment of Mr Lee Cheung Yuet,
Horace and Ms Lam Wing Tung, as joint company secretaries, as
announced by the Company on 2 February 2024; (b) resignation
of Mr Feng Rui, an executive director of the Company as
announced by the Company on 5 March 2024; (c) (i) resignation
of Mr Chan Sin Hang and Mr Cheng Tat Wa, each an independent
non-executive director of the Company and (i) appointment of
Mr On Ka Shing, an independent non-executive director of the
Company, as announced by the Company on 21 March 2024;
(d) the entering into of the Supplemental Agreement as disclosed
above; and (e) the resignation of Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace and
Ms Lam Wing Tung, as joint company secretaries, as announced
by the Company on 10 April 2024, there are no other important
events affecting the Group which have occurred since the end of
the Year up to the date of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES,
CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND TREASURY POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the total deficiency in equity of
the Group amounted to approximately HK$200.8 million (31
December 2022: HK$179.5 million).

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2023 measured
in terms of total liabilities divided by shareholders’ equity was
approximately 101.9% (31 December 2022: 116.4%).

As at 31 December 2023, the net current liabilities of the Group
were approximately HK$201.1 million (31 December 2022:
HK$179.1 million). The cash and cash equivalents amounted to
HK$0.8 million (31 December 2022: HK$7.5 million). The Group
has an outstanding shareholder’s loan of HK$101.1 million (31
December 2022: HK$114.3 million), which is unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2023, no borrowing was made by the Group.
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The Group adopts a conservative and balanced treasury policy in
cash and financial management. The Group's cash is generally
placed as deposits mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars or
Renminbi. To manage liquidity risk, the Group regularly reviews
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the
Group's assets, liabilities and commitments can meet its funding
requirements.

PLEDGE OF THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, none of the assets of the Group had
been pledged (31 December 2022: Nil) to the Group’s bankers
to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group or
otherwise.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES AND ANY RELATED HEDGES

During the Year, almost all of the income and expenditure of the
Group were denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollar and/
or United States dollar. The Group had no significant exposure to
foreign exchange fluctuations and, therefore, had not taken any
financial instruments for hedging purpose.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

The Group had a total of approximately 55 employees as at
31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 60 employees). It has
been the Group's policy to ensure that the remuneration levels
of the Directors and its employees are reviewed and rewarded
on a performance-related basis within the general framework of
the Group's salary and bonus system. Share options may also be
granted to the Directors and employees of the Group to attract,
retain and incentivise them to work and make contribution
towards the long term growth and development of the Group.
During the Year, staff costs (including Director’s remuneration) was
approximately HK$13.2 million (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$18.4 million).

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
had reviewed and discussed with the management of the
Company regarding the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the Year.

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION BY THE AUDITOR

Views of the Audit Committee and the Board
on the disclaimer of opinion of the Auditor

The Audit Committee and the Board consider that the Company
have provided all available audit evidence to the Auditor and,
except for the uncertainty or possible effect of the matters leading
to the Auditor’s Disclaimer of Opinion, the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the Year give a true and fair view
of the performance and financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023.

The Audit Committee and the Board, after discussion with
the Auditor on its basis of the Disclaimer of Opinion, have the
following views:

1. Material uncertainty related to going concern

Background

The Group incurred a loss of HK$21,970,000 million and
operating cash outflow of HK$4,920,000 for the Year. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year were prepared on a going concern basis, the validity
of which depends upon, among other matters, (i) the
continuing financial support of the major shareholder of the
Company, Dr. Yeung Yung, (the “Major Shareholder”) and
(i) the ability of the Company to successfully raise funds for
the Group at a level sufficient to finance the working capital
requirements of the Group.
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Continuing financial support from the Major
Shareholder

The Audit Committee and the Board have confidence in the
Major Shareholder’s continued commitment and support
towards the Group as had been demonstrated in the past,
and believe that the Major Shareholder is ready, willing and
able to offer such other assistance (financial or otherwise) to
the Group to enhance its financial flexibility and capability as
and when the circumstances arise.

In order to assess the financial ability of the Major
Shareholder and the validity of the financial support
from the Major Shareholder, the evidence and supporting
documents requested by the Auditor have been provided by
the Major Shareholder and the Company, which included,
but not limited to, proof of funds of the Major Shareholder
for demonstrating that the Major Shareholder has the
financial ability to provide support to the Company.

Other fundraising opportunities

Despite the cautious investment sentiment as a result of
uncertainties surrounding the global economy and the
prevailing high interest rate during the Year, the Board has
been proactively exploring all possible financial alternatives
including but not limited to equity financing, debt financing,
rights issue, open offer or bank borrowings.

On 29 May 2023, the Company and the Subscriber, a third
party independent of the Company and its connected
persons, entered into a Subscription Agreement, pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to issue,
and the Subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe
for, the Convertible Bond in the principal amount of
HK$100,000,000. The Convertible Bond carries an interest
rate of 5 percent per annum and is repayable in two years,
which may be converted into a total of 1,000,000,000
Conversion Shares to be allotted and issued by the Company
pursuant to the exercise of the conversion right attached
to the Convertible Bond at the initial conversion price of
HK$0.10 per Conversion Share, subject to the adjustment
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Convertible
Bond. For further details, please refer to the section of
“FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES DURING THE YEAR" of this
annual report.
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The Board’s and Audit Committee’s views on the
material uncertainty related to going concern

Taking into account of the above, the Audit Committee
agreed with the management’s view that the Group will
have sufficient working capital for the operation and
development of its business for at least twelve months from
the end of the reporting period of the Year. As such, the
Audit Committee agreed with the management’s view that
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year were prepared on a going concern basis.

With the continued support from the Major Shareholder,
together with the unwavering efforts and commitment
of the Company’s management in seeking potential
collaborations and investment opportunities for the
Group with a view to improving the liquidity, operation
and performance of the Group in the long run, the Audit
Committee and the Board believes that, the Company will
manage to have sufficient working capital for the operation
and development of the Group's business, or in the event
of resumption of trading of the shares of the Company,
the Company will have sufficient capital to proceed with
the Acquisition (as defined below) to accelerate the
development of its electric vehicle business, so that the
disclaimer of opinion in relation to the material uncertainty
will not be carried forward to the Group’s financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2024.

The Audit Committee considered that the material
uncertainties related to going concern will not be carried
forward to the Group's financial statements for the
year ending 31 December 2024 based on (a) the Major
Shareholder, who has been demonstrating his continued
commitment and support towards the Group, entering
into the shareholder’s loan agreement with the Company;
(b) the Subscription; and (c) the Company’s continued
exploration of fund raising opportunities and collaborations
with potential business partners and investors, including but
not limited to the potential subscription of shares by the
Potential Subscribers.

Directors’ Report
EEEREE

EFERERZECHEMFAELE
ZEATEBEMRZZHF

etk EXFrt BEREEEREE
BEEZRB ARTEERERREN
EEETNHAFERSHRESE
D+ ERREERERER AL
ERZEEREEEBZRME AR
FEBRFEZFRESMBREDEE
BEERERA -

ddin

BETERRZFAXFT MELER
AEEERTERRREBEGHER
REWEUREBRATEBRRH M
BERRBEZAIME N RMAH > B
LZEEREFERE ARR RSN
BEENEEESHAREEREF
RER AHERDRNDMEES
AABDREBREETETWESE
(EER T UMRHEBEEE
LR REFBAEREATEEN
MmEEAMAERBE_S _NF+Z
A=t+—HBLEFEZHHFRERTE
Bo

BEZEZEER R BERQ@QEERRSB
EHAEB 2 FBERERER—EA
BB BERARFTLRRER
Wik (OB EIR ; ROFABMEER
REEREURBBEXBBEH AR
EECF (BEEFEREBEZRBEA
AJAERBRD)  FAEEBEE_T M
F+-RA=+—HLEEFEZMBRX
TEBEEERMPBBECEZERTRE
o

EEEEBRAT —Z_=FFR

25



26

Directors’ Report

L e g, o)
SEETIG

2.

Share of loss of associates and investment in
associates

Background of disclaimer of opinion

Prior to 2022, the Company’s investment in associates
mainly represented the Company’s (i) 16.7% equity interest
in Shenzhen SUSTC Fuel Cell Company Limited (“Shenzhen
SUSTC"); and (ii) 18% equity interest in Ningbo Jingwei
Power Battery Co., Ltd. (“Ningbo Joint Venture").

Ningbo Joint Venture

Ningbo Joint Venture is principally engaged in the research,
development, production and sale of power batteries,
batteries materials and control systems of motor, and the
development of technology in manufacturing key parts of
new energy vehicles.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 19
October 2022, on 27 September 2022, the Group entered
into an equity transfer agreement in relation to the disposal
of the 18% equity interest in Ningbo Joint Venture held by
the Group to an independent third party to the Company
(the “Ningbo JV Disposal”).

Shenzhen SUSTC

Shenzhen SUSTC is principally engaged in the research,
development, production and sale of power batteries,
batteries materials and control systems of motor, and the
development of technology in manufacturing key parts of
new energy vehicles.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
13 December 2022, the Group entered into an equity
transfer agreement in relation to the disposal of the entire
equity interest in Shenzhen SUSTC held by the Group to
an independent third party to the Company. (the “SUSTC
Disposal”).

The Company recognised net loss on disposal of associates
of approximately HK$143.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 in relation to the Ningbo JV Disposal and
SUSTC Disposal.
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Reasons leading to the disclaimer of opinion in relation
to the Share of loss of associates and investment in
associates

Due to the insufficient audit evidence to ascertain the fair
value of the investment in associates as at 31 December
2021 due to limited operations of Ningbo Joint Venture and
limited financial and corporate information provided by the
management of Ningbo Joint Venture, the Auditor is unable
to ascertain the respective amount of loss on disposal to be
recognised in the income statement of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

The Board’s and Audit Committee’s views on the Share
of loss of associates and investment in associates

Based on the above and after discussion with the Auditor,
given (i) the disposal of the equity interest in Ningbo Joint
Venture and Shenzhen SUSTC; and (ii) the loss on disposal
was recognised during the year ended 31 December
2022 and the disclaimer of opinion is only related to the
comparative figure for the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Board and the Audit Committee are of the view that the
disclaimer of opinion in relation to share of loss of associates
and investment in associates has been resolved and will not
be carried forward to the year ending 31 December 2024.

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Background of the Meilai Investment

The equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income of the Group represented the
investment of the Group in the Meilai Group.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company
dated 4 September 2020 (the “Meilai Announcement”)
in relation to the subscription of 5% of the equity
interest in the Meilai Group by the Group (the “Meilai
Investment”). On 27 May 2016, the Group and another
independent third party investor entered into a subscription
agreement (the “Meilai Subscription Agreement”) with
the then shareholders of the Meilai Group, pursuant to
which the Group agreed to make the Meilai Investment
at a consideration of RMB60 million (the “Meilai
Subscription”).

The Meilai Group is principally engaged in timber and wood
processing industries in the PRC.
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Profit Guarantee and Compensation Payable

Pursuant to the Meilai Subscription Agreement, certain
then shareholders of the Meilai Group (the “Guarantors”)
covenanted and guaranteed to the Group that the
accumulated audited consolidated net profit after tax
attributable to the shareholders of of Jilin Meilai should
not be less than RMB160 million, RMB 450 million and
RMB920 million respectively for each of the three years
ended 31 December 2018 (the “Profit Guarantee”). In the
event the Profit Guarantee is not fulfilled, the Guarantors
shall compensate the Group on a dollar-for-dollar basis
(the "Compensation Payable”) based on the formula as
disclosed in the Meilai Announcement. Based on the local
audit reports, the actual accumulated audited consolidated
net loss after taxation of the Meilai Group attributable to its
shareholders for the three years ended 31 December 2018
was approximately RMB54.4 million.

The Compensation Payable was recognised as derivative
financial instrument for the year ended 31 December 2018
and reclassified to other receivables for the year ended 31
December 2019 under the consolidated financial statements
of the Company. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying
amount of the Compensation Payable was approximately
HK$77.8 million.

Arbitration

On 29 September 2020, the Group applied to China
International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission
(the "Arbitration Commission”) to initiate an arbitration
proceeding against the Guarantors in relation to the
Compensation Payable and the return of investment cost
in Meilai Group with interests (the “Arbitration”). On
2 July 2021, the Arbitration Commission handed down
the award in relation to the Arbitration (the “Arbitration
Award"”), pursuant to which the Guarantors shall, within
30 days of the Arbitration Award, pay the Group RMB60.0
million together with interest at a rate of 12% per annum
amounting to no less than approximately RMB33.0 million
for buying back the Group's 5% equity interest in the Meilai
Group.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2023

i P RAE R T 18

RiEZRDBEHZ EREEBETE
BERRER (TREBAL) EEAEERZER
R EBEZZ—N\EFE+ZB=1+—
HBIE=EEEZEF2EMERRKE
FE{L R R BRI SRR BALF) D B
RREDF AR #160,000,00070 AR
#450,000,0007t K& A R #920,000,000
7t (MEFREE) - mWaflREXRBE
B BIREBABERERQMATIKE
2HAREEEERAERLZ(THE
(TRE(#ME ) - E 5 5 Bk
O HE_E-NFE+B=1+—H
E=EEEZZREBRBEGSE
R REBERECHRREBIEIENS
AR #54,400,0007 ©

ERRBIZEEMHEREY  BHH
EREE_Z—-N\EFE+B=+—H
iﬁfﬁ*%ﬂi%%lﬁ’ﬁmﬁ
E-NEFE+IZBE=1+—HLEE
E%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@%%ﬂ°:_§:—
F+ZBA=1+—H EBNHEZERD
{BE49777,800,00078 73 °

1hE

NZEZZEFHAAZ+ALBE  AER
BYEERSEEZSHHEE D (Th
HZEE8g) FFEMETHERRES
REBKREMAEN S HERE AR
HEHER (&) - R —
FHtEH HHEZEgMZIEE
TER (MhERER) B REBAR
RERHRFERIOCKARAEAERLZ AR
#60,000,0007c 0 L EFZE12% 5+
BARDRH ANE#33,000,0005089F]
EARBEARERNERERNS%R
o



As the Guarantors had yet to fulfill the Arbitration Award
handed down by the Arbitration Commission, the Group
had in September 2022 applied to the competent authority
for an execution order against the Guarantors to enforce
the Arbitration Award. In late 2022, while the competent
authority issued a draft execution order, pursuant to which
the Company has attempted to enforce such order to
recover assets from the Guarantors, the competent authority
further considered that the Guarantors do not have the
capability of settling any of the compensation payable to the
Company.

Based on publicly available information, (i) the Group noted
that the Guarantors are designated by the competent
authority as defaulted executees who are now restricted in
spending and involved in a number of litigations; and (ii) the
court and the relevant authority has attempted to execute
orders to recover assets from the Guarantors in view of
settling all or part of the Arbitration Award, but considered
the Guarantors do not have the capability and is unlikely to
have sufficient asset to settle any of the Arbitration Award.
As such, the Company considered it is unlikely the Meilai
Investment and Compensation Payable will be recoverable
and accordingly the Company provided impairment in full on
the carrying amounts during the year ended 31 December
2022.

Reason leading to the disclaimer of opinion in
relation to the Compensation Payable and the Meilai
Investment

Due to the dispute and the outcome of the Arbitration,
the Meilai Group had not been cooperative and the Group
could not obtain the latest consolidated management
accounts of the Meilai Group for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2021. The Group could only rely on
the consolidated management accounts of the Meilai Group
for the year ended 31 December 2019 with management
adjustments and could not provide sufficient information to
the independent valuer for the valuation of the Meilai Group
and the Compensation Payable.
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Given (i) the difficulty in obtaining the audited financial
statement of the Meilai Group for the year ended 31
December 2021; and (i) the Guarantors were yet to fulfill
the Arbitration Award, the Auditor could not obtain
sufficient audit evidence to verify the management
accounts of the Meilai Group and was therefore unable to
satisfy itself on the fair value of the Meilai Investment and
the recoverability of the Compensation Payable as at 31
December 2021. Accordingly, the Auditor was also unable
to satisfy itself on the amount of impairment loss to be
recognised on the Meilai Investment and Compensation
Payable in the income statement of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022. However, the Auditor was
satisfied that the balance of HK$nil of such Compensation
Payable as at 31 December 2022 and 2023 is fairly stated.

The Board’s and Audit Committee’s views on the
recoverability of the Compensation Payable and the
Meilai Investment

In assessing the recoverability of the Compensation
Payable as at 31 December 2021, the Board and the Audit
Committee are of the view that the Compensation Payable
and the Meilai Investment could be recovered in the
event the Arbitration Award is fulfilled by the Guarantors
voluntarily or through enforcement or other orders applied
or to be applied by the Group.

The Board and Audit Committee understood that the
Auditor had indicated that the grant of the Arbitration
Award might only serve as a reference but could not be
taken as substantial audit evidence as to the recoverability of
the Compensation Payable as at 31 December 2021 because
the Guarantors have yet to fulfill the Arbitration Award.

As further publicly available information has come to
light where (i) the Guarantors are designated as defaulted
executees by the relevant authority who are now restricted
in spending and involved in a number of litigations; and
(i) the court and the relevant authority has attempted to
execute orders to recover assets from the Guarantors in
view of settling all or part of the Arbitration Award, but
considered the Guarantors do not have the capability of
settling any of the Arbitration Award, after discussion with
the Auditor, the Board and the Audit Committee consider
it is unlikely the Guarantors have sufficient assets for
settlement of the Arbitration Award. As such, the Company
provided impairment in full on the Meilai Investment and
Compensation Payable during the year ended 31 December
2022.
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As the Auditor was satisfied that the balance of HK$nil of
such Compensation Payable as at 31 December 2022 and
2023 is fairly stated and the disclaimer of opinion is only
related to the comparative figure for the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022, the disclaimer of
opinion in relation to the equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income has been resolved
and will not be carried forward to the Group's financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2024.

Other receivables

The other receivables mainly represented other receivables
due from third parties which were overdue for more than a
year (the “Overdue Receivables”).

Reason leading to the disclaimer of opinion in relation
to the Overdue Receivables

As the Overdue Receivables remained long overdue and it
is unlikely the Group can recover such balances, the Group
provided impairment in full on the Overdue Receivables.
However, the Auditor could not satisfy themselves as to
whether the impairment loss on the Overdue Balance for
the year ended 31 December 2022 is fairly stated, but was
satisfied that the balance of trade and other receivables as at
31 December 2022 and 2023 is fairly stated.

The Board’s and the Audit Committee’s views on
the Auditor’s disclaimer of opinion in relation to the
Overdue Receivables

As the Auditor was satisfied that the balance of trade and
other receivables as at 31 December 2022 and 2023 s fairly
stated and the disclaimer of opinion are only related to
the comparative figure for the financial statement for the
year ended 31 December 2022, the disclaimer of opinion
in relation to the Overdue Receivables has been resolved
and will not be carried forward to the Group's financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2024.

Directors’ Report
EEEREE

BERZEmEMN S _F
T ZE+ZHAZ+—HEHESHEE
ZHEGEETEERSHETY > ME
FERTNEREBHEEE TS _F+_
B=1+—HIEFEEZHFHHRKR ZLEER
HFER WEREATEFAEM
PEABAZRAKREZ#EARTER
EERH BIEERERERTRE
TETNE+"HA=+—HLEEEZ
B FEHRER o

ddin

ELth FE U TR

HtERREEEBRE=1LEE
Bl —F DL b2 HAh AW (T A FE Uk

) e
AN R R R

HRaAERRNERAR BAE
B~ AR SEWR BB AR A EE
38 FAFE WL BT IR 2 BURME 2R 1%
YEMEEEMNEBEE_S__F+_4
—t+—HLEFENABGERZRES
BREGEFTSHEIN EEHARE
T CERCEC=F+"A=+—H
EWESHRBEREMERRZE5HRE
EREHET]o

EFERERZECHZHIAE L
BHIERFERTERZZRE

BERZSmEaN S a8
T =FE+"B=1+—HEWRESH
BREMEWRSRZEHREESL S
2> mBIARTREEARE T
T TE+ A=+ —HILEFEZHE
WERZIEBRHFTER WERBLEE
Wz ELIRTEREBER I BR
TEAEAEFRHE_ST_NFE+_
B=1+—HIEFEZHHRK-

EEEEBRAT —Z_=FFR

31



32

Directors’ Report

EEERES

5.

Prepayment to a supplier

Background

The prepayment to a supplier (the “Prepayment”)
represents the prepayment made to XALT pursuant to
certain supply agreement (the “Supply Agreement”) and
was the core of a lawsuit commenced by Townsend Ventures
LLC, XALT Energy LLC and XALT Energy M, LLC (collectively,
“XALT") towards the Company and one of its wholly-
owned subsidiaries.

During the course of exploring commencement of
arbitration proceedings against XALT, the Company had
engaged legal counsel and sought legal opinion in respect
of the laws of the United States on the feasibility of any
arbitration proceedings (the “US Legal Opinion”).

According to the US Legal Opinion, under the laws of
the State of Maryland, the limitation period of breach of
contract claims is three years. Accordingly, any request
of arbitration for any claims arising out of the Supply
Agreement must be filed by 30 August 2020, being three
years after the court’s order on the Company’s request to
conduct arbitration.

The Board is of the view that, having considered the
reasonable efforts made to search for the additional
information to commence arbitration proceedings and
possible mediation all these years and the Group's financial
condition and resources currently available to the Company,
the Board has decided not to further pursue arbitration
proceedings in this regard at this stage.

Reasons leading to the disclaimer of opinion in relation
to the Prepayment

The Company had provided all available evidence to the
Auditor of the Group’s making of the Prepayment to, and
its receipt by, the recipient suppliers (whom and whose
related parties are involved in the lawsuit with XALT).
Given the recoverability of the prepayment is subject to
the outcome of any negotiations or litigations which are
yet to materialize, the Auditor was therefore not able to
satisfy themselves as to whether the impairment loss on
prepayment to a supplier of approximately HK$332,641,000
for the year ended 31 December 2022 is fairly stated,
however the Auditor was satisfied that the balance of
HK$nil of prepayment to a supplier as at 31 December 2023
and 2022 is fairly stated.
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The Board’s and the Audit Committee’s views on
the Auditor’s disclaimer of opinion in relation to the
Prepayment

The Board and the Audit Committee considered that it is
understandable, from the Auditor's audit perspective, that
the information available at this stage may not be sufficient
for the Auditor to evaluate whether the impairment losses
on the Prepayment for the year ended 31 December 2022
was fairly stated.

Pursuant to the US Legal Opinion, as the Group and XALT
did not follow through the arbitration process against each
other over three years, each of the Group and XALT lost its
rights to claim any damages or compensations from each
other. Accordingly, the Board and the Audit Committee
consider it is appropriate to provide impairment in full on the
Prepayment during the year ended 31 December 2022.

As the Auditor was satisfied that the balance of HK$nil
of such Prepayment as at 31 December 2022 and 2023 is
fairly stated and the disclaimer of opinion are only related
to the comparative figure for the financial statement for the
year ended 31 December 2022, after discussion with the
Auditor, the Board and the Audit Committee the disclaimer
of opinion in relation to the Prepayment has been resolved
and will not be carried forward to the Group's financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2024.

Disposal of subsidiaries

Background

The Company entered into a number of sale and purchase
agreements with third parties to dispose of its investments in
several subsidiaries of the Company in the United States (the
"US Subsidiaries”) (the “US Disposal”) for the year ended
31 December 2021. The Group recorded a loss on disposal
of the US Subsidiaries of approximately HK$3.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021.
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Due to the hindrance of the COVID-19 pandemic and the
subsequent omicron variant wave in the United States
during the year ended 31 December 2021, the registration
and filing process of the US Disposal with the relevant
authority had been inevitably delayed and is yet to be
completed. Nevertheless, as such registration and filing
process is only procedural, the Company recorded the
US Disposal for the years ended 31 December 2021, and
the financial results of the US Subsidiaries were no longer
consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of
the Company.

Reason leading to the disclaimer of opinion in relation
to the US Disposal

The Audit Committee and the Board understood that the
Auditor's disclaimer of opinion was based on insufficient
audit evidence to ascertain the completion of the US
Disposal for the as the legal formalities of the Disposal are
yet to be completed as at 31 December 2021. As such, the
Auditor was unable to satisfy itself in relation to the accuracy
of the disclosure in relation to the US Disposal for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

The Board’s and the Audit Committee’s views on
the Auditor’s disclaimer of opinion in relation to the
Disposal

As the registration of the US Disposal has been completed
during the year ended 31 December 2022, after discussion
with the Auditor, the Board and the Audit Committee
consider that the disclaimer of opinion in relation to the US
Disposal has been resolved and will not be carried forward
to the Group’s financial statements for the year ending 31
December 2024.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five financial years is set out in the annual report on page
144. The summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this Directors’
report are:

Executive Directors:

Dr Yeung Yung (Chairman)

Mr Feng Rui (Chief Executive Officer)
(Resigned with effect from 5 March 2024)

Mr Liu Stephen Quan

Mr Li Zhengshan

Mr Chen Xiao

Non-executive Director:
Dr Xia Tingkang, Tim

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Dr Zhu Guobin
Mr Cheng Tat Wa

(Resigned with effect from 21 March 2024)
Dr Li Jianyong
Mr Chan Sin Hang

(Resigned with effect from 21 March 2024)
Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace

(Resigned with effect from 2 February 2024)
Mr On Ka Shing

(Appointed with effect from 21 March 2024)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to any director(s)
or chief executive of the Company, the following parties (other
than the directors or chief executive of the Company) were
recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 336
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"), or as otherwise notified to the
Company, as being directly or indirectly interested or deemed to
be interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the
Company:

FERRNRETQE RSP 2HERD

RIET=ZF+"A=+—H #MELEE
MEEHARSTHRAERA FF AL R
BREARBDEEARSTEAE) RERQE
5% U EZ BETRARHEES IR AE
BARABIREESRPERG (FBE0E
571%) (IESRHAGEEA) 5336 EFEEZ
BoMASi NEBTHEARAABDZEE
oy ISR

Number
Name Capacity/Nature of interest of Shares Percentage
2184 51 EmttE [iabg S 4=| BSL
(Note 2)
(BF5E2)
Sun East LLC Beneficial owner (Note 1) 2,673,071,189 13.13%

Bm#EA A (1)

Notes:

1. Sun East LLC is owned as to 35% by Dr Yeung Yung (shared
commonly with his spouse under the laws of California, the US) and
65% by Mr Ma Manwai (alias Ma Manwai, Philip) and Mr Jimmy
Wang (alias Wang lian) as co-trustees for certain trusts established
for the benefit of the children of Dr Yeung Yung on 30 December
2002. Dr Yeung Yung (as well as his spouse) was deemed to be
interested in these 2,673,071,189 Shares held by Sun East LLC
under Part XV of the SFO.

2. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of
20,352,872,747 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023 and does
not take into account any Shares which may fall to be allotted and
issued upon exercise of any subscription rights attaching to any
share options granted by the Company.

Save as disclosed above, no person, other than those Directors
whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions” below, had registered an
interest or short positions in the share capital or underlying shares
of the Company that was required to be recorded under Section
336 of SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follow:

(1) Long positions in the ordinary share (each a
“Share”) of HK$0.10 each in the Company

DwecKys Repoﬁ
S EEHE

ESRBETHARZMER

BR

HHH

RIZZI=F+ZA=+—H ARBESE
REEITBRABRARRHE AR BN EE
(EERFBHRPEHRMEXVE) 275~
RN IESFFPEERBR S KGR
BIEIS2EARBFE 2SIt 3
ERE EMRAMNER P& EETAE
BETRFRZNEESTA (MREFA)) 3
THEARB MBIz ERmRXBUT .

(1) RAEREESREE010ETEER
EH—KReR) 2=

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Director Number of Shares  Capacity/Nature of interest shareholding
E5t4 RABE B EEEE IREMLABE L
(Note 1)
(FF=E1)
Yeung Yung 2,673,071,189 Interest of controlled corporation
(ks (Note 2) ¥ EEMRED
(F5E2)
68,140,000 Beneficial owner
EnEEA
2,741,211,189 13.47%
(Note 3)
(M45E3)
Liu Stephen Quan 281,760,000 Founder of trust
2R (Note 4) Interest of children under 18
(M$3E4) ERn-IEEIN
RMISH TR 2R
10,000,000 Beneficial owner
EEEBA
291,760,000 1.43%
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Name of Director

GREE

Number of Shares

Capacity/Nature of interest

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

EENA RPHE Hir #ntE RREMAT L
(Note 1)
(FFzE1)

Li Zhengshan 26,270,000 Beneficial owner 0.13%

ZIELW EREEA

Chen Xiao 25,000,000 Beneficial owner 0.12%

= EnBEEA

Notes: Mzt

Q)

The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of
20,352,872,747 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023 and
did not take into account any Shares which may fall to be
allotted and issued upon exercise of any subscription rights
attaching to any share options granted by the Company.

These Shares are held by Sun East LLC. Sun East LLC is a
limited liability company incorporated in California, the US,
which is owned as to (i) 35% by Dr Yeung Yung (shared
commonly with his spouse under the laws of California, the
UsS) and (i) 65% by Mr Ma Manwai (alias Ma Manwai, Philip)
and Mr Jimmy Wang (alias Wang Jian) as co-trustees for
certain trusts established for the benefit of the children of Dr
Yeung Yung on 30 December 2002. Dr Yeung Yung (as well
as his spouse) was deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by Sun East LLC by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

The spouse of Dr Yeung Yung is deemed to be interested in
the Shares beneficially held by Dr Yeung Yung by virtue of
Part XV of the SFO.

These Shares were indirectly owned by certain trusts of which
Mr Liu Stephen Quan were the founder. The children of
Mr Liu were eligible beneficiaries of the trusts. Mr Liu was
deemed to be interested in these Shares by virtue of Part XV
of the SFO.
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(2) Interests in share options of the Company
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(2 MERBDBREZEm

Number of

underlying

Shares
subjectto  Approximate
outstanding  percentage of

Name of Director Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price Options  shareholding
e K17
FRRHE
SRz R B4
B4 REAH A{TERR fT#EE HMRPEE Bt
(HK$) (Note)
(B7) i)
Li Zhengshan 20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 50,000,000 0.25%
ZEW —mFE+—RAZ+H 19memum4
—mFE+—AZ+HE
_7_EE+ A+1H
Chen Xiao 20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 50,000,000 0.25%
3 —E+—BZ+H 19 November 2024
—mE+—AZ+HE
“ZIMmE+—A+NH
Xia Tingkang, Tim 20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 10,000,000 0.05%
BiERR —E+—BZ+H 19 November 2024
Z-NFE+—BZ+HE
“ZIMmE+—A+NH
Zhu Guobin 20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 10,000,000 0.05%
REDE —mFE+—AZ+H 19memum4
—mFE+—AZ+HE
_7_EE+ A+1H
Li Jianyong 20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 20,000,000 0.10%
FEE —E+—BZ+H 19 November 2024
—mE+—AZ+HE
“ZIMmE+—A+NH
Note: 5T -

The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of
20,352,872,747 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company had or were deemed to have any
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December

2023.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company currently in force
was adopted on 13 June 2013 (the “Scheme”) pursuant to an
ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 13 June
2013.

The following share options were outstanding during the period
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Period”):

faRatEstE

AABIREER 2 EBRESFEDIREBEAR
BIRERZE—=F"B+=HET2X
NE)REBFARG LBB —EEERE
ZRTE—=FBA+=H&E4 (T5t81)) -

UTERERNR _-_E-_=F—FB—H&_2%
Z=F+ZR=+—HR (HAR) B R1T

&5 :
As at 1 January Redlassification Share options Share options Share options Share options  As at 31 December Date of Exercise Exercise
Name/Category of Participant 2023 during the Period granted cancelled lapsed exercised 2023 Grant Price Period
RZ§Z= Bz B%KZ RZBZZE
24z /8 -A-8 BRENHE  BRUZBRE e BRE  BOEZBRE  +CAS+-B BHEW fifefR e
Director
i
Feng Rui 10,000,000 o S & (10,000,000) - - Note 1 Note 1 Note 1
(esigned with effect from i3l i3l il
5 March 2024) 10,000,000 (10,000,000) - - > S S Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
B =] M3 W33
(EZF_RE=FRRERE
Liu Stephen Quan 10,000,000 - - - (10,000,000) - - Note 1 Note 1 Note 1
a5 il LiEd] kS
Li Zhengshan 20,000,000 - - - (20,000,000) - - Note 1 Note 1 Note 1
Enall i) i) iEa]
50,000,000 - - - - - 50,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
liE=) iz} i)
Chen Xiao 50,000,000 - - - - - 50,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
TR liE=) M3 i)
Xia Tingkang, Tim 10,000,000 - - - (10,000,000) - - Note 1 Note 1 Note 1
BER liEa] il Al
10,000,000 - - - - - 10,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
M3 i) i3]
Zhu Guobin 10,000,000 - - - (10,000,000) - - Note 1 Note 1 Note 1
FER il LiEd] kS
10,000,000 - - - - - 10,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
i) M3 W33
Cheng Tat Wa 5,000,000 (5,000,000) - - - - - Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
(resigned with effect from M&3 &3 iRz]
27 March 2024)
(EL S_REZA-+-HE
#)
Li Jianyong 10,000,000 - - - (10,000,000) - - Note 1 Note 1 Note 1
EE iG] i i
20,000,000 - - - - - 20,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
i) LGS M3
Chan Sin Hang 4,500,000 (4,500,000) - - - - - Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
(resigned with effect from
21 March 2024)
REt iz} L=} i)
(B-F_mE=F_1-A
&
Sub Total: 229,500,000 (19,500,000) - - (70,000,000) - 140,000,000
INat:
Employee (In aggregate) 72,500,000 - - - (72,500,000 - - Note 1 Note 1 Note 1
€8 (B3) liE4] k4] i
111,000,000 - - - - - 111,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
i) LGS M3
15,000,000 - - - - - 15,000,000 Note 5 Note 5 Note 5
Mas M35 W3S
10,000,000 - - - - - 10,000,000 Note 6 Note 6 Note 6
i3 Hizte Hizte
Sub Total : 208,500,000 - - - (72,500,000) - 136,000,000
INat:
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As at 1 January Redlassification Share options Share options Share options Share options  As at 31 December Date of Exercise Exercise
Name/Category of Participant 2023 during the Period granted cancelled lapsed exercised 2023 Grant Price Period
i St 3 Bz B%%z Sk S
2RERR /B -A-B BRENHE Btz ERE i faRiE BffEZHRE +ZA=+-A  RHAH fifEm e
Other eligible persons: (in aggregate) 266,000,000 - - - (312,000,000) - - Note 1 Note 1 Note 1
(Note 8) i3] Mz g
EtABERAL : (B3) (s) 21,000,000 - - - - - 21,000,000 Note 2 Note 2 Note 2
i3] Mgk 2]
378,000,000 19,500,000 = = = = 50000 Note3  MNote3  Note3
Hi&3 iEE] 2]
400,000,000 . s = = = 00000000 Noted  Noed  Noted
Mzt izt g4
Sub Totel 111,000,000 19,500,000 . . (312,000,000) . (818,500,000)
gt
Total 1,549,000,000 . = = (£54,500,000) S (1,094,500000)
@t
Notes: a5t
1. These share options were granted on 6 September 2013 and are 1. ZEBRENR_Z—=Fh A/ AEL"
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.108 per share at any WA R ZE—=FNARBEZZZ=
time during the period of 10 years from 6 September 2013 to 5 NBEBZI0OFHERNEAEEES R
September 2023. 0.108 T2 SR ETE
2. These share options were granted on 29 July 2014 and are 2. ZEERER_Z—NFEL/_ ‘f’TLEl?x
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.1136 per share at any YR ZE—NELtAZ+AHE
time during the period of 10 years from 29 July 2014 to 28 July EoMELAZ+\BZI0EHENER
2024. E% B2 ER0.11368 T2 BB ETE
3. These share options were granted on 20 November 2014 and are 3. ZFBREN T -—NF+—F_+HE
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.201 per share at any YR ZE—NHE+—AZ+HE
time during the period of 10 years from 20 November 2014 to 19 SmE+—B+ABEZ10EBERER
November 2024. RIS RR0.2018 2 SR EITE
4. These share options were granted on 14 July 2015 and are 4. ZEBEBRER _Z—FAFtA+HBEHE
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.395 per share at any Yo WRAIR —_E—AFtBt+HEEEZZE
time during the period of 10 years from 14 July 2015 to 13 July THETA+=ZHZI10FE BB AR EARRE
2025. & R0.3958 T SBEEITE
5. These share options were granted on 9 December 2016 and are 5. ZEERER_ZT—XE+_-_AA1H ?;
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.228 per share at any Yo R ZE2—RE+ZBANABEZ
time during the period of 10 years from 9 December 2016 to _/\flf—f—_ﬁJ\EIZ1O£E,HHF'3WETTE%F'3
8 December 2026. & RR0.2288 T BB BITE
6.  These share options were granted on 20 January 2017 and are 6. ZEERER _T—tE&E—HB_+ EI?EZ
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.1872 per share at any Yo R ZE—ttFEF—BZ+HEZ
time during the period of 10 years from 20 January 2017 to 19 —tEFE— ﬁ—f—lelmeEHHF'EﬁmE@E%FEﬁ
January 2027. & R0.18728 T2 RIE BT
7. Other eligible persons include business partners, consultants and 7. HMEBRALTOERER 2 EFHBHE-

advisers of the Group (for the avoidance of doubt, does not include
placing agents or financial advisers providing advisory services for
fund raising, mergers or acquisitions, professional service providers
who provide assurance or are required to perform their services
with impartiality and objectivity), and the holder of the late Dr Zhu
Shengliang’s share options upon reclassification as disclosed in note
7 above.

B R (ARERE TEERENRE
WEEE S R EE IR EER RS ~ Bt
HEM RERENEAEERMETH
BR7% 2 FERFSMHAER) » UK Lk sE7Fr
i&%%%’\*ﬁéaﬁﬁlﬂi% RigTEREZ
FB A

EEEEBRAT —Z_=FFR

41



42

Directors’ Report
EETHRG

The principal terms of the Scheme are briefly summarised below: B FEEREMOT -
1) Purpose of the Scheme As incentives and rewards to eligible participants for their contribution or
potential contribution to the Group
FHEIZ BN FReaERSEENAERFHEMIUEE SR Z BB K ZRE
2)  Participants of the Scheme a) any employee (whether full time or part time, including any

executive Director but excluding any non-executive Director) of
the Company, any of its subsidiaries, or any entity (the “Invested
Entity”) in which any member of the Group holds any equity
interest;

sElz2HE KRB EEANBRASNAEREANERADFEEAREZ
FEER (FIREER) 2 EAREE (Fm2 B R aiFF
PHITEEEFCBIFEERIFNTES) ;

b)  any non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors), any of the subsidiaries of the Company or any Invested
Entity;
RABERNBABSNEFRAREERZERFRNTES (B8
BIFFNTES) ;

) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;
FEBERKNEABNEAMEEER T AERIRBHEE
=

d)  any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

rEBNEAMREBREZEZAER ;

e)  any person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity;
RHAEBNEAAREBRIBHMAE HENHEMRM R ZE
RAALTHERE ;

f)  any shareholder of any member of the Group other than the
Company or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities
issued by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
AEBEAKERAE (RATRIN HERAIREERZERR
B RFEEEANEATNEAFAKREBRMETENZESFZ
ERCEST =N

g)  any advisor (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of
business or business development of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; and
REBEARERRNEAMEEERIEBRNEFBERPE
I EZ AR (Fama B X HEEER) EHAA ; Ez

h)  any other group or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth of the
Group.

BEAECE ENHBENEMERTEMB AN EHAER
ERRIERFEEMNEMEMARNEER S EE
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3)

Total number of Shares available
for issue under the Scheme

IRiE s BRI HEITRIR M B
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EEEREE

ddin

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
the exercise of all options (excluding such options which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Group) to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) of the Group must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the Shares in issue on the date of approval of the Scheme (the
“General Scheme Limit").

AR Bt R A EBTAEHMBRESZS FTREZFAEBRE O~
BRERESERAERTMEMBRES S ZERERMZBRE)
BITHmMA kS RBET 2RO EHESET BRI EAZERE R
TR19 210% (T—RRstEI EFR)) -

Subject to the rules of the Scheme, the Company may seek approval of
its shareholders in general meeting to refresh the General Scheme Limit
provided that the total number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the Group must not exceed 10% of
the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the refreshed limit. For
the purpose of calculating the refreshed limit, such options (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance with the
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group) previously
granted under the Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Group will not be counted.

ETEFRAZRBET AR P SRERRERRAG LHESHT—
festd LR AR E S A AEREAEMBRESERTREZ
FrE R EEITEMA A BT RN BB SBBHELER
FIREHBEZRITRMZ10% et ELEH LRME » LRl RIETE
RAEBETAEMBRESZRE ZEMBRE (BERRFAEIAE
EETAEMBRESZRTE BEHE BRUABITEZBRE)
FEFEERC

Upon the date of approval of the refreshment of the General Scheme
Limit by its shareholders on 31 October 2017, the Company may issue
up to 2,033,787,274 Shares (the “Refreshed General Scheme Limit"),
representing 10% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at
31 October 2017.

N ZE—tHE+RA=+t—HRRAEEM—MAREE LRHRAE AR
BRI 81T Ni8382,033,787, 274k i 17 (TR EH—AREtEI EMR)) - BV A
RAINZE—tHF+A=+—HZBETEREZ10%-

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares available
for issue under the Scheme upon exercise of share options to be granted
under the Scheme is nil, representing nil of the total issued share capital
of the Company.

RAFRBE BB FTREBREBTERFEIETIET
ZRMHBEHE RS TRERATBEITRAEE -

EEEEBRAT —Z_=FFR
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4)  Maximum entitlement of each
participant under the Scheme
FEIETNEA2HEY RS

5)  The period within which the
option may be exercised by the
grantee under the Scheme

EFENRIRS IO AT oA AR 1
Z HARR

6)  The minimum period for
which an option must be
held before it can be exercised
(i.e. the vesting period)
BERETTITERAREZ
RIZHARE (B

7)  The amount payable on
application or acceptance of
the option and the period
within which payments
shall be made

EREA SRS IR RS 2
IR R A S TR IR Z B

8)  The basis of determining the
exercise price of options
granted

ERHBRETEECETEE

The number of options available for grant under the Share Option
Scheme was 2,033,787,274 as at 1 January 2023 and nil as at 31
December 2023. The Company did not grant any share options during
the period from 1 January 2023 to 12 June 2023. Following the expiry of
Scheme on 12 June 2023, no share option may be or has been granted
thereunder.

N _E_=F—RB—HEZZE=F+"A=+—H REERKEs
BIoI IR 2 BB B 9 542,033,787 274 R E-B -2 "=
—ﬁ—El:zlz:_g__E/\ﬁ‘f' H IEHRR » A /A B o f B AR (AT B AR
HoREEN T _=F/"A+HEmRE HIE T I EIEREER
BB

In any 12-month period, shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue
PKER12ER 2 AT EBE R ETRNH Z1%

The Board may in its absolute discretion determine save that such period
shall not expire later than 10 years from the date of grant

EEG T BHEIEAE LR 14 2RISR BB B s+
ERER

Unless otherwise determined by the Board, no minimum period

BFEFEERAERE SR EREHE

Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall inform the Company
together with HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant within 30 days
from the date of offer

R IRIER > AR ABNHENBIES0RAMEART L X
BT/ RENE

The exercise price is determined by the Board and being not less than the
highest of:

TEEHEFERAEAFAERUT=ZEZERSE !

a)  the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more board lots of shares
on the date of offer for grant which must be a business day; or
RMNNEBLABI CEREXR) M8 HRERMIIMET—
FREFROEECAZNTHE; X
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the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more board
lots of shares for the 5 business days immediately preceding the

date of offer for grant which must be a business day; or
ROMNEZRENHR CBREXR) A AEEXHBIFAE AR

BRMAYIHE

ET—FASFRODEEEBZFHRHE X

C) the nominal value thereof

Iin Z BB

9)  The remaining life of the Scheme

ST R TR
The Company is aware that under the new rule 17.03A of
the Listing Rules which came into effect on 1 January 2023,
participants of share schemes shall only comprise of employee
participants, related entity participants and service providers
(as defined in the Listing Rules). The Company will only grant
the share options under the Share Option Scheme to eligible
participants in compliance with the new rule 17.03A and pursuant
to the transitional arrangements for share schemes existing as at 1
January 2023 as specified by the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party and in which any Director or an entity
connected with a director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

DIRECTORS’
BUSINESS

INTERESTS IN COMPETING

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, no
Directors are considered to have interests in a business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the employer
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensations.

The Scheme expired on 12 June 2023
T_=FRA+ZHE®

ARBRIHE RER-_Z2-=F—BF—84%
Wz HHA EHRRBIE17.03A1K  RiFEtEI2
HEEVERESEE HESRZ2HEER
RFMER (EER LHRAD - ARBFE
BERFTARA 17 03AIR RARIR I S PR R E 1Y
TR —HEENRMEEIZE
BEHh REBRESIDGERSREER
B AR o

EENXB -RHRENHR2Z
e

BMETNEENLEEETAREZTERNSE
ARREEAMBLABMITLARKTEER
FRUKTFEREAEBNHARABIR LHEHA
EREXETBREB X5 RHRENTHER
(T REENER EAE-

EFNRFNETPZES

RAEFERARBEERFRAN BHEEER
BRANERERZ XHFERABEL AR
FHAETAGF XS (EER LHRAD
hEREm o

ERZRFBESH
BRESRAADREEANBATTE

@IT—JE’\‘ fﬁﬁq,\\iﬁﬂi/ﬁﬁé BB OF
BEERRID ZIRFBEX

EEEEBRAT —Z_=FFR
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Company’s business were entered into or existed
during the Year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recorded nil revenue, nil cost of sales and nil gross
profit for the Year. As such, the percentage of the Group’s
purchase and revenue (included continuing and discontinued
operations) attributable to the five largest suppliers and customers
respectively is inapplicable.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

None of the “Related Party Transactions” constituted discloseable
non-exempted connected transaction or non-exempted continuing
connected transaction under the Listing Rules and all of such
transactions are fully exempt from any announcement, reporting,
annual review or independent shareholder’s approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
and the Company during the Year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 81 and note 26 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended), amounted to approximately
HKS$Nil (2022: HK$NIl).

ANALYSIS OF BORROWINGS AND INTEREST
CAPITALISED

No borrowings was made and no interest was capitalised by the
Group during the Year.
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SHARE CAPITAL

The number of issued ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the
Company as at 31 December 2023 was 20,352,872,747 (2022:
20,352,872,747).

Movements in share capital of the Company are shown in note 25
to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company may distribute dividends by way of cash or by
other means that the Board considers appropriate. Any proposed
distribution of dividends is subject to the discretion of the
Board and, where applicable, the approval of the Shareholders.
The Board will consider various factors before declaring or
recommending any payment of dividends which factors include
the results of operation of the business of the Group, the retained
earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each
of the members of the Group, the Group'’s actual and expected
financial performance, the general business conditions and
strategies, the Group's expected working capital requirements
and future expansion plans, the general economic conditions
and business cycle of the Group’s business, the future prospects
of the business of the Group, shareholders’ interests, statutory
and regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividend and other
internal or external factors that the Board deems appropriate.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final
dividend to shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company had maintained the prescribed level of public float as
required under the Listing Rules during the Year and up to the
date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS' INDEMNITIES

According to the Company's bye-laws, each director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities (to the extent allowed by the
Companies Act, 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) which such
director may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the
director’s duties or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has
arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance
coverage for the directors and officers of the Group. Such
insurance to indemnify them against liabilities arising from the
execution of their duties was in force during the Year and remain
effective as at the date of the Directors’ report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The automotive industry is one of the most environmental aware
business sectors. To preserve the environment, the Group strives
to devise and adopt environmental friendly strategies, policies
and measures (through the concepts of reducing, re-using and re-
cycling) to achieve sustainable development, and is committed
to conducting its activities in a manner consistent with the above
determination.

These strategies, policies and measures include but not limited
to (i) using energy-efficient lighting and appliances, recycling of
office supplies and other materials in the workplace to the extent
practicable, (ii) working or partnering with renowned academics
and strategic business partners in the research and development
of both technologically advanced and energy saving auto-
components and materials (such as single and few-layer graphene,
battery materials, super batteries and electric control systems) for
the electric buses, new engine and other vehicles designed and/or
manufactured by the Group, (iii) setting up or using energy-saving
and technologically advanced establishments and facilities for the
manufacture of new energy products for auto-use, (iv) setting
criteria for the selection of our suppliers and manufacturers which
must be reliable, financially sound, environmental conscientious
and are keen to adopt sustainability measures in their business
and operation and (v) educating and reinforcing environmental
protection awareness among employees of the Group.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Board recognizes the importance of the Company to
act responsibly and due compliance with the laws, rules and
regulations applicable to the businesses operated by the Group.
The Group has employed suitable personnel and engaged
appropriate professional advisers to ensure that it stays abreast
with legislative changes and industry developments and its
operations are being run in line with the applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

During the Year, the Company had complied with, and the Board
is not aware of any violation of, the applicable laws, rules and
regulations that had a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group in any material respects.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Company is committed to upholding a positive image for
the Group and building trust and loyalty among its stakeholders,
employees, customers, suppliers and other business partners. The
Board considers that the Company has all along maintained good
relationships with its stakeholders, employees, key customers,
suppliers and other business partners, which are beneficial to the
long-term development of the Group.

AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited will retire at the conclusion of
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
“AGM"), and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-
appoint ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as auditor of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board

Yeung Yung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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SN ESE A EE A
ﬂ:% = /O #E = %
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The board of directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) of
the Company (together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is
committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
to ensure better transparency and protection of the overall
interests of the Company and its shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company wishes to
highlight that the Board will continue to devote efforts in
ensuring effective leadership and control of the Company and the
transparency and accountability of all operations.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year"), the
Company had applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) set out in the part 2 of the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board

The Board is accountable to the shareholders of the Company
for leadership and control of the Company and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company and its
businesses by directing and supervising the Company'’s affairs. The
Board focuses on overall corporate strategies and policies with
emphasis on the business growth and financial performance of the
Group.

The Board has determined that certain matters such as strategic
planning, significant transactions, and budget should be retained
for the Board's approval. It has formalized the functions reserved
to the Board to achieve a clear division of responsibilities between
the Board and the senior management of the Group. The Board
has delegated its responsibilities to the senior management to deal
with day-to-day operations and reviewed those arrangements on
a periodic basis. The senior management has frequently reported
back to the Board and obtained prior approval before making
decisions for key matters or entering into any commitments on
behalf of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions of the Company with clear written terms of
reference. The Board had reviewed and monitor (where applicable)
(i) the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance,
and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (ii)
training and continuous professional development of its directors
and senior management; (iii) code of conduct applicable to
employees and Directors; and (iv) this corporate governance report
in the discharge of its corporate governance functions and to
ensure compliance with the Listing Rules.

In order to maximize the effectiveness of the Board and to
encourage active participation and contribution from Board
members, the Board has established three Committees (namely
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee) (the “Committee(s)”), each with
specific written terms of reference (which are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the Corporate Governance Code) to
assist in the execution of their duties. The terms of reference of
each of the Committees are reviewed and amended (if necessary)
from time to time, as are the Committees’ structure, duties and
composition so as to best suit the needs of, and foster corporate
governance excellence in, the Company.

The Company Secretary and the external auditor engaged by the
Company shall attend the annual general meeting (the "AGM")
of the Company and, as far as possible, all other meetings of the
Board and the committees of the Board to answer questions and
advise on corporate governance, statutory compliance, accounting
and financial matters. The Company Secretary is an employee of
the Company and is appointed by the Board. All Directors have
access to the Company Secretary who is responsible for facilitating
the Board's processes, liaison among members of the Board and
the Group's compliance with the continuing obligations under
the Listing Rules, the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share
Buy-backs, the Companies Ordinance, the Securities and Futures
Ordinance and other laws, rules and regulations applicable to the
Group. During the Year, the Company Secretary had undertaken at
least 15 hours of relevant professional training annually to update
his skills and knowledge.

All Directors are encouraged to propose and include items in the
agenda of each of the meetings of the Board and the Committees
for full discussion and deliberation. The Company Secretary is
delegated with the responsibility to prepare the agenda and,
where appropriate, take into account any matters proposed by any
Director/Committee member for inclusion in the agenda.
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The Board meets regularly and at least four Board meetings are
scheduled annually at approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc
meetings are convened whenever necessary.

Due notice of Board meetings are given to or, depending on the
circumstances, urgency and/or importance of the matters, agreed
to be shortened or waived by all the Directors. Even though the
Directors often stay/travel in different time zones, they endeavour
to make themselves available for, and participate in the meetings
to the extent possible via teleconferencing mechanisms or other
electronic means.

Minutes of the Board/Committee meetings are recorded in
details for the matters considered by the participants of such
meetings and decisions reached, including concerns raised by
Directors and/or dissenting views expressed. The meeting minutes
are circulated to the Directors or Committee members within a
reasonable period of time after the meetings are held and taken
as the true records of the proceedings of such meetings. They are
kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at
any reasonable time upon reasonable notice being served by any
Director. All Directors are entitled to have access to Board papers
and related materials at least 3 days before the intended date of
a Board or Board committee meeting unless there are restrictions
on disclosure due to legal and regulatory requirements or other
justifiable grounds.

Directors are provided with complete, adequate explanation and
information to enable them to make an informed decision or
assessment of the Group's performance, position and prospects
and to discharge their duties and responsibilities on a timely basis.
To enable the Directors to properly discharge their duties, they are
given access to independent professional advisers, when necessary,
at the expense of the Company.

The Board understands that independent views and input are
vital elements to good corporate governance. The Company
has mechanisms in place to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board, among others, each individual
Director can access to the advice from the senior management
and external independent professional of the Company directly,
when necessary. The Board reviews the implementation and
effectiveness of the mechanisms on an annual basis.

Whenever a member of the Board or member of a committee of
the Board has cause to believe that a matter to be voted upon
would involve him in a conflict or possible conflict of interest, he
is required to disclose the conflict of interest and is not allowed
to participate in the final deliberation or decision and will abstain
from voting on such matter.
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Attendance Records of Board/General Meetings
The Board had held seven meetings during the Year.

Details of the attendance of individual Director at general
meetings (including annual general meeting) and Board meetings
during the Year are set out below:

Name of Member

Corporate Governance Report
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Board composition

During the Year, the Board comprised the following members
(who remained in office as at 31 December 2023 unless otherwise
specified below):

Name
Executive Directors
Dr Yeung Yung (Chairman)
Mr Feng Rui (Chief Executive Officer)
(Resigned with effect from 5 March 2024)
Mr Liu Stephen Quan
Mr Li Zhengshan
Mr Chen Xiao

Non-executive Director
Dr Xia Tingkang, Tim

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr Zhu Guobin
Mr Cheng Tat Wa

(Resigned with effect from 21 March 2024)
Dr Li Jianyong
Mr Chan Sin Hang

(Resigned with effect from 21 March 2024)
Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace

(Resigned with effect from 2 February 2024)
Mr On Ka Shing

(Appointed with effect from 21 March 2024)

The biographies and other information of the current Directors
are set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. There is no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship among the
Directors.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2023

EREMEHES

REFER EFFEETIMRE (R TX
SEERN BREEN -2 -=F+_"A43
=+—BHAED :

e
HITEE
RiE+ (/%)

B E (TE AR
(BZZE_mFE=H 7 HEFHT)

BIR&TE

FIEWSLE

BRBESEE

FHITEFE
BEEREL

BUKHTES
REBRSE
IS
(5 =F == =+—HEHE)
=REWL
B o
(5= == =+—FERD
=B JLE
(5 =F ==/ = EHE)
TR S
(&= F—mE=f QRS

RBESEZEEAREMBENHNAFRIE
EREREEBRENIB - EF MBI E
BIF5 5 RESNHMER ERERF



Corporate Governance Report

Under bye-law 87(1) of the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-
laws”), at each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three
(3)), then the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
the Directors are subject to the free and absolute choice of the
shareholders for re-election at the annual general meetings.
Whereas under bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition
to the existing Board should hold office until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company.

By virtue of Bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-laws, (1) Mr Feng Rui; (2) Mr
Liu Stephen Quan; (3) Mr Li Zhengshan; and (4) Mr Lee Cheung
Yuet, Horace, had retired at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 25 May 2023 (the “2023 AGM"), and being
eligible, offered themselves for re-election (and were re-elected) at
the 2023 AGM.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the
approach taken to achieve diversity in the Board composition.
The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
the candidates’ background, professional knowledge, skills and
expertise, industry experience, age, gender and other qualities
of the members of the Board. These characteristic and objectives
have been taken into account in determining the optimum
composition of the Board. For the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Company has achieved the following measurable objectives
that the Board has set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy:

(i)  To ensure at least one member of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualification;

(i) To ensure the appropriate proportion of the independent
non-executive Directors to the executive Director in order
to maintain the independence of the Board. In particular,
at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors; and

(i)  To ensure at least 50% of the members of the Board shall
have attained bachelor’s degree or higher level of education.
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The Board is aware that under the revised rule 13.92 of the Listing
Rules, a single gender board with not be considered to have
achieved gender diversity, and the Group aims to further improve
the diversity of the Board by appointing at least one female
member on the Board before 31 December 2024 being the end of
the transitional period as specified by the Stock Exchange.

In order to achieve gender diversity in Board succession, the
Company would also put further emphasis on gender balance and
gender equality in future recruitments, so that sufficient potential
candidates of different gender are in place to fill the vacancy of
the Board, when necessary.

During the year, in respect of gender diversity at workforce level
(including senior management), the female representation is about
17.4% of our total work force. Given the principal business and
the industrial nature of automobile industry, it is expected that
equality of gender ratio will be difficult to achieve within the
Group. However, the Group will still strive to enhance gender
diversity (in terms of gender ratio) across all levels of workforce so
far as reasonably practicable.

The skills and expertise among the existing Directors are well-
balanced with a mixture of core competencies in areas such
as accounting and finance, legal, business and management,
marketing strategies, business development, and scientific
backgrounds.

The independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) meet
the requirements of independence under the Listing Rules so that
there is a sufficient element of independence in the Board to
exercise independent judgments. The Board considers that all of
the INEDs are independent and the confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules had been obtained from
each of them as required by the Listing Rules.

The INEDs have the same duties of care and skill and fiduciary
duties as the executive Directors.
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The functions of INEDs include, but not limited to:

o participating in Board meetings to bring an independent
judgment to bear on issues of corporate strategy, corporate
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments
and standard of conducts;

o taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

o serving as member of and actively participating on matters
delegated by the Board to the committee(s) established by
the Board, if invited;

o attending general meetings of the Company and developing
a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders; and

o scrutinizing the Group's performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives and monitoring the reporting
of performance.

Chairman and CEO

As at 31 December 2023, the Chairman of the Board was Dr
Yeung Yung. The Chief Executive Officer (“CEO") of the Company
was Mr. Feng Rui, who resigned with effect from 5 March 2024.

The Chairman of the Board provides leadership to the Board so
that the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities
and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board
in a timely manner.

The position of CEO is vested with executive responsibilities
over the business directions and operational decisions of the
management and performance of the Group.

The Chairman of the Company also seeks to ensure that all
Directors are properly briefed on issues raised at Board meetings
and receive adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.
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Appointment, Re-election, Retirement and Removal

It is the Board's responsibility to select and appoint individuals
with integrity, experience and calibre to act as directors of the
Company. The Board reviews the profiles of the candidates and
seek recommendations from the Nomination Committee of the
Board on the appointment, re-election, retirement and removal of
directors.

All Directors are subject to rotation at least once in every three
years as required by the Bye-laws. Each Director is briefed and
updated to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
operations and business of the Group and that he acquaints
himself with the common law duties and responsibilities of acting
as a director for a listed company and familiarise himself with the
applicable laws and regulations (including without limitation, the
Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance, the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, and the governance policies of the Company).

Each of the non-executive Directors (including INEDs) is appointed
for an initial term of not more than two years commencing from
his date of appointment and is renewable successively for a term
of one year until terminated by either party by giving not less than
one month’s prior written notice to the other and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election by shareholders at annual
general meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws. Every Director
shall ensure that he can contribute sufficient time and effort
to the corporate affairs of the Company once he accepts the
appointment.

Inside information

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to ensure
that unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

Committees

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee with specific terms
of reference (which are of no less exacting terms than those set
out in the Corporate Governance Code) to enable each of the
Committees to discharge its functions properly.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing financial
statements and internal control system of the Group. It also
provides advice on the financial and accounting policies of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee comprised
three independent non-executive Directors (namely Mr Cheng
Tat Wa, Mr Chan Sin Hang and Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace).
Subsequently, the Audit Committee was reformed and the Audit
Committee comprised three independent non-executive Directors
(namely Dr Li Jianyong, Dr Zhu Guobin and Mr On Ka Shing), and
the chairman of the Audit Committee as at the date of this report
was Dr Li Jianyong.

Two meetings of the Audit Committee were held for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The individual attendance of each
member is set out below:
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Name of Member REHS HEGERY
Mr Cheng Tat Wa EiEERE 212
Mr Chan Sin Hang =it 2/2
Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace RN EE 2/2

During the Year, the Audit Committee performed the following
work:

o Reviewed with the management the Group’s annual and
interim results and draft consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 and for the six
months ended 30 June 2023 respectively

o Reviewed with the management the Group’s financial
reporting and auditing matters, the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and their adequacy
and effectiveness

o Reviewed and discussed with independent external auditor
of the Company on significant audit findings

o Reviewed the disclaimer of opinion of the independent
external auditor on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
assessed the position and views of the management of the
Group towards the disclaimer of opinion by the auditor and
its impact or possible impact on the financial position of the
Group;
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o Recommended to the Board the re-appointment of
the independent external auditor of the Company for
shareholders” approval

o Carried out such other duties as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code which included the review of the
independence and objectivity of the external auditor, the
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations,
as well as the terms of their engagement. The Audit
Committee was satisfied with the outcome of their
review, and the Board shared the same views of the Audit
Committee.

The Company Secretary keeps the minutes of the Audit
Committee. Draft and final versions have been sent to all members
of the Audit Committee within a reasonable time after the
meeting for their comments and records respectively.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
both the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements for the Year, which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group’s results and cash flows for the year then ended and were
properly prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with the
applicable statutory requirements and accounting standards.

Auditor’s Responsibility in the Independent Auditor’s
Report

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited (the “Auditor"”), the independent
external auditor, has also stated its reporting responsibility in
the independent auditor’s report of the consolidated financial
statements for the Year.
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Material uncertainty related to going concern
expressed by the Auditor

The Auditor has expressed a disclaimer of opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year (as set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report) related to, among other
matters, a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and its basis,
which is reproduced below:

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of
approximately HK$21,970,000 and operating cash outflow of
approximately HK$4,920,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023 and as at 31 December 2023 the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$201,133,000 and net liabilities
of approximately HK$200,818,000. These conditions indicate
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis, the validity of which depends upon (i) the financial support
from the major shareholder, (i) the completion of the subscription
of new shares in the Company; and (iii) the completion of the
subscription of convertible bonds to be issued by the Company
under the general mandate for the Group to meet its liabilities as
they fall due. The consolidated financial statements do not include
any adjustments that would result from the failure to obtain
the financial support. We consider that the material uncertainty
has been adequately disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements.

However, we were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to (i) the validity of the
financial support from the major shareholder and (i) completion
of the subscription of new shares in the Company; and (iii) the
completion of the subscription of convertible bonds to be issued
by the Company under the general mandate as described above.
There are no other satisfactory audit procedures that we could
adopt to determine whether the major shareholder and the
subscriber have the financial ability to honour the financial support
to the Group. We disclaim our opinion in respect of the material
uncertainty relating to the going concern basis.
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Directors’ position on the material uncertainty related to
going concern

The Directors have confidence in the major shareholder's
continued commitment and support towards the Group as
had been demonstrated in the past, and believe that the major
shareholder is ready, willing and able to offer such other assistance
(financial or otherwise) to the Group to enhance its financial
flexibility and capability as and when the circumstances arise.

Further, the Directors have been proactively exploring (i) all
possible financial alternatives (including but not limited to equity
financing, debt financing, rights issue, open offer or bank
borrowings); (i) collaborations with potential business partners
and investors to develop the business of the Group. These
collaborations may take the form of joint venture(s) or other forms
of alliance with potential business partners and investors to invest
in, develop or diversify the businesses of the Group in which (a)
the Group may contribute its expertise and intangible assets (such
as intellectual property rights owned by the Group) and (b) the
potential business partners or investors may inject working capital
to allow each party to fully leverage on each other’s capabilities.

During the Year, the Company had identified a number of
potential business partners or investors (including governmental
authorities in the PRC, manufacturers in the automobile industry
and institutional investors) which had expressed interest in
collaborating with or investment in the Group. However, the
outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic had significantly hindered
the negotiation progress and negatively affected the sentiment of
such potential business partners or investors, which had generally
adopted a more prudent approach, in vigorously pursuing such
possible new business ventures or investment during the Year.

Nevertheless, with the continued support from the major
shareholder, together with the unwavering efforts and
commitment of the Company’s management in seeking potential
collaborations and investment opportunities for the Group with a
view to improving the liquidity, operation and performance of the
Group in the long run, the Directors believe that the Company
will manage to have sufficient working capital for the operation
and development of the Group’s business so that the disclaimer of
opinion in relation to the material uncertainty will not be carried
forward to the Group’s financial statements for the year ending 31
December 2023.

The Company will make further announcement(s) on any potential
fund raising, collaboration and/or investment opportunities and
comply with the applicable requirements of the Listing Rules as
and when appropriate.
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Audit Committee’s view on the Directors’ position

The Audit Committee confirmed that they understood the material
uncertainty related to going concern of the Group. They had
considered and agreed with the Directors’ position as set out
above.

Auditor's Remuneration

During the Year, the fees paid/payable to the external auditor in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the external
auditor of the Group were as follows:

TEEABRSS
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Audit service BIZR 1,300,000
Non-audit services* JEE AR 170,000
1,470,000

# The non-audit services mainly comprised review of interim financial ~ * FBERRFFECEERTPHAMBER

information, professional services in relation to possible transactions
and tax compliance services.

Internal Controls and Risk Management

The Board has overall responsibility for overseeing management
in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and
establishing procedures to enable the Group to identify, evaluate
and monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems in a
timely manner. During the Year, the Company had, together with
the senior management of the Group and the audit committee
of the Board, reviewed and evaluated the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and considered that they
were adequate and remained effective.

The risk management and internal control systems, including
a defined management structure with limits of authority, are
designed to help achieving business objectives, safeguarding
assets against unauthorised use, and maintaining proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use and for publication. The establishment
of such systems is designed to manage the Group's risks within an
acceptable risk profile, rather than to eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives of the Group, and can only provide
reasonable assurance but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are reviewed annually.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, including financial, operational
and compliance controls as well as the process used to identify,
evaluate and manage significant risks faced by the Group. The
Board also reviews the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting functions as well as those
relating to the Company’s ESG performance and reporting. The
Group considers its risk management and internal control system
effective and adequate.

Internal Audit Function

The Group has conducted an annual review on whether there is a
need for an internal audit department. Given the Group’s relatively
simple corporate and operation structure, as opposed to diverting
resources to establish a separate internal audit department, the
Board, supported by the Audit Committee, is directly responsible
for risk management and internal control systems of the Group
and for reviewing its effectiveness.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has set up the Remuneration Committee to
ensure that there are formal and transparent procedures for
formulating policies on the remuneration of the Directors and
senior management. As at 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee comprised Dr Yeung Yung (an executive Director and
the Chairman of the Board) and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace and Mr Cheng
Tat Wa. Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace was the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee. As of the date of this report, the
composition of the Remuneration Committee has been changed
and it comprised Dr Yeung Yung (an executive Director and the
Chairman of the Board) and two independent non-executive
Directors (namely Dr Li Jianyong and Mr On Ka Shing).

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee determined the
policy for the remuneration of executive Directors, assessed the
performance of the executive Directors and approved the terms
of their service contracts. The Remuneration Committee had also
made recommendations to the Board regarding the Company’s
remuneration policy and the formulation and review of the
remuneration package of all Directors and senior management
of the Group for determination by the Board and considered and
dealt with matters relating to appointment, retirement and re-
election of Directors.
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According to the Group's directors’ remuneration policy, the
remunerations of the Directors, comprising Director’s fee, salary
package, discretionary bonus and share options, are reviewed
and determined by the Board based on the recommendations
from the Remuneration Committee with reference to the
Company’s performance, the Director’s duties and responsibilities
with the Company, and the prevailing market conditions. The
Director’s remuneration will be subject to annual review by the
Remuneration Committee and the Board with the authorisation
granted by the Shareholders at the AGM.

No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.
Details of the remuneration paid to members of the senior

management of the Group (including the Directors) by band for
the Year are set out below:

TEEABRSS
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Remuneration band management
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One meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held for the FHMEZE@ R E_EX2_=4+_ 4

year ended 31 December 2023. The individual attendance of each
member is set out below.

Name of Member
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Number of
meetings attended

HEEERE

Dr Yeung Yung R+
Mr Cheng Tat Wa BiEESE
Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace FGIREE

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on both the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has a Nomination Committee to ensure that there
are fair and transparent procedures for the appointment, re-
election and removal of directors to the Board. As at 31 December
2023, the Nomination Committee comprised Mr Cheng Tat Wa
and Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace, both being independent non-
executive Directors, and Dr Yeung Yung, being the Chairman of
the Board and an executive Director. Dr. Yeung Yung was the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee. As of the date of this
report, the composition of the Nomination Committee has been
changed and it comprised Dr Yeung Yung (an executive Director
and the Chairman of the Board) and two independent non-
executive Directors (namely Dr Li Jianyong and Mr On Ka Shing).

Nomination Policy and Procedures

To ensure the composition of the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business in accordance with the
Board diversity policy of the Company, the Company has, with
the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, adopted a
formal, considered and transparent procedure for the selection,
appointment and re-appointment (as the case may be) of
Directors. The criteria to be taken into account when considering
the suitability of a candidate, among other things, will be his or
her ability to:

(@ bring an independent judgment and make constructive
recommendation on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of
conducts;

(b)  take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

() serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and/or the Nomination Committee and/or any
other Board committee(s), if invited;

(d) devote sufficient time to the Board and/or any Committee(s)
on which he or she serves so as to allow them to benefit
from his or her skills, expertise, and varied backgrounds
and qualifications and diversity through attendance and
participation in the Board and/or Committee meetings;

(e)  scrutinize the Company’s performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting
of performance;

(f)  ensure the Committee(s) on which he or she serves to
perform its/their powers and functions conferred on it/them

by the Board; and
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(g9 conform to any requirement, direction and regulation
that may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or
contained in the constitutional documents of the Company
or imposed by legislation or the Listing Rules, where
appropriate.

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director (INED), his or her independence shall be
assessed in accordance with, among other things, the factors
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any
amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange from time to
time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education,
qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated to consider
whether he or she has the appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise for filling
the office of an INED with such qualifications or expertise as
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee has nominated (a) Dr Yeung Yung
(executive director and chairman); (b) Mr Chen Xiao (executive
director); (c) Dr Xia Tingkang, Tim (non-executive director), and (d)
On Ka Shing (independent non-executive director) to the Board for
the Board to make recommendation to the Shareholders for re-
election at the 2024 AGM, having reviewed the composition of
the Board and having regard to the proposed re-elected Directors'’
professional experience, skills, knowledge and/or length of service,
their commitment to their respective roles and functions, and their
respective contributions brought and to be brought to the Group.

On the existing independent non-executive Directors, the
Nomination Committee considered (and the Board shared the
same views), that at all times during the period of directorship
with the Company, each of them had properly discharged his
duties and responsibilities as an independent non-executive
Director and had made positive contribution to the development
to the Company through independent, constructive and informed
comments and participation at the business and other affairs
relating to the Group. The Nomination Committee (as well as the
Board) was satisfied with the independence of these independent
non-executive Directors, having regard to the independence
criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the annual
confirmation given by each of them to the Company on his
independence.

Dr Yeung Yung and Mr On Ka Shing, being one of the members
of the Nomination Committee, had abstained from voting at the
meeting of the Nomination Committee when his own nomination
was being considered.
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One meeting of the Nomination Committee was held for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The individual attendance of each
member is set out below:

RBRE4ZEgRNEE_SES_=+_H
=t+—HIEFEEHBIT—REHE -IREZ
HEEEHWT

Number of
Name of Member meetings attended
RE%H HEEERY
Dr Yeung Yung ELiEL 11
Mr Cheng Tat Wa EREIESE 1/1
Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace FRIRSE 11

During the Year, the Nomination Committee carried out the
process of selecting and recommending to the Board candidates
for directorship with reference to the Board diversity policy of the
Company, as set out in the section in the report headed “Board
Diversity Policy”, evaluated the Board’s composition, assessed
the independence of independent non-executive Directors and
recommended the re-appointment of retiring Directors for
shareholders’ approval at the 2023 AGM.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available
on both the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Continuous Professional Development

During the Year, all Directors (namely Dr Yeung Yung, Mr Feng
Rui, Mr Liu Stephen Quan, Mr Li Zhengshan, Mr Chen Xiao, Dr Xia
Tingkang, Tim, Dr Zhu Guobin, Mr Cheng Tat Wa, Dr Li Jianyong,
Mr Chan Sin Hang and Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace) were
provided by the Company with materials (including but not limited
to updates on Listing Rules and guidelines on Directors’ Duties)
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. The Company also encouraged all Directors to
participate from time to time courses which they consider relevant
at the expense of the Company so as to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills for better fulfillment of their duties as
directors of a listed issuer.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code"”) on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code as its own
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors. All
Directors, after specific enquiries by the Company, confirmed to
the Company their compliance with the required standard set out
in the Model Code throughout the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS AND
COMMUNICATION

The Company is committed to (i) protecting the rights of
Shareholders and ensuring that each Shareholder is treated equally
and fairly; and (i) reinforcing the trust placed in the Company
by the Shareholders by remaining open and transparent, which
objective the Company believes is the hallmark of a high quality
company.

The Company attaches great importance to communication with
the Shareholders. As part of the Shareholders’” communication
policy of the Company, a number of means, as set out below, are
used for the Shareholders to communicate with the Company
their views on matters that affect the Company, and for the
Company to solicit and understand the views of the Shareholders
and the investing public.

The means of access includes without limitation the despatch
to Shareholders and/or release by the Company of the various
bilingual corporate communications of the Company (such as
interim and annual reports, circulars, notices, financial reports,
press releases and other business information) via the website of
the Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of
the Company (http://hk1188.etnet.com.hk).
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Shareholders are also encouraged by the Company to attend
general meetings of the Company where the Chairman of the
Company and other members of the Board and (if appropriate)
the auditors of the Company, are available to answer questions.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders’ communication policy of the Company for the
Year. On the basis that (i) 1 general meeting was held to reach
out to individual Shareholders and stakeholders to encourage their
participation in the matters of the Company and to raise enquiries
and (i) all bilingual announcements, circulars, annual and interim
reports, and voluntary announcements on business updates of the
Group are made available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company to provide Shareholders and investing public
with easy and timely access to the latest development of the
Group, the Board considered that its Shareholders’ communication
policy was effectively implemented during the Year.

The following procedures are in place by which Shareholders may
(@) convene a special general meeting (the “SGM"); (b) make
proposals at Shareholders” meeting; and (c) send enquiries to the
Board to achieve the above purposes.

(@) Procedures by which Shareholders can convene a
SGM
Pursuant to section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), a Shareholder or
Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company may
requisition the Directors to forthwith proceed duly to
convene a SGM by depositing a written requisition at the
registered office of the Company. Bye-law 58 of the Bye-
laws provides for this right as well.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting (including the resolutions to be considered at the
meeting), signed by the requisitionists, deposited at the
registered office of the Company at Victoria Place, 5th
Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one
or more requisitionists.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2023

TABTBERREEAERBT ZREAE
ARBZEFREMEFTEME U WE
B) AABZZBENEEE LRIERRE -

EFEORAN AR RREMNBERNRAF
EZBHIBRRRE - ER(ERT—RK
RAE UEBEARRRFENE  &BR
F2RARNBEBRIBLES ; R(FFIEZ
A B FRAEPHREUREBEA
EEEXEFENERZBBEATHINER
FTRAABREIEER UERRREEAR
BEEhFETHRAERZRMER EFER
RERREBABRERETFEFERUBNE
il

TR EERM  HRR()BRRRER
A ((RRFHNAE) ;ORKRRAE LR
HEE ; RODEFEFHEHLUER Lt
B8y

(a) BRBFARRFINAGZER

BEARE-—NAN—F2RFE (28
E)EIMFNEEERERFERD
RAERABEBBERE MHEREAT
REAXGRRE) +DZ2—HN—BHZ
LREERBEBAE QB FZMMELRE
ZHEREIR BREFERERS
FERKRRERAE - AT MHAISESS
RTRET BRI TEHER]

ZEMERKEBNBAEEN (B1F
BRRKELEEEZRZR) KEXRA
BERTELARBZEMMER (G
HE A Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda) > iff
AEEREERALTHR—RHLHER
ABEBZ#G o



(b)

Corporate Governance Report

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date
of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
SGM, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more
than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a SGM, but any SGM so convened shall
not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition.

A SGM so convened by the requisitionists shall be convened
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings are to be convened by the Directors.

Procedures for making proposals at Shareholders’
meetings

Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act allow certain
Shareholder(s) to requisition the Company to move a
resolution at an annual general meeting (the “AGM") of the
Company or circulate a statement at any general meeting
of the Company. Under section 79 of the Companies Act,
at the expense of the requisitionists unless the Company
otherwise resolves, it shall be the duty of the Company on
the requisition in writing by such number of Shareholders:

(i) to give to the Shareholders entitled to receive notice
of the next AGM notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
that meeting;

(i) to circulate to the Shareholders entitled to have notice
of any general meeting sent to them any statement
of not more than one thousand words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or
the business to be dealt with at that meeting;

(i) the number of Shareholders necessary to make the
above-mentioned requisitions to the Company shall
be:

- either any number of Shareholders representing
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all the Shareholders having at the date
of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting
to which the requisition relates; or

- not less than one hundred Shareholders.
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Notice of any such intended resolution shall be given, and
any such statement shall be circulated, to Shareholders
entitled to have notice of the meeting sent to them by
serving a copy of the resolution or statement on each such
Shareholder in any manner permitted for service of notice of
the meeting, and notice of any such resolution shall be given
to any other Shareholder by giving notice of the general
effect of the resolution in any manner permitted for giving
him notice of meeting of the Company, provided that the
copy shall be served, or notice of the effect of the resolution
shall be given, as the case may be, in the same manner
and, so far as practicable, at the same time as notice of the
meeting and, where it is not practicable for it to be served
or given at that time, it shall be served or given as soon as
practicable thereafter.

Section 80 of the Companies Act sets out the conditions to
be met before the Company is bound to give any notice of
resolution or to circulate any statement. Pursuant to section
80 of the Companies Act, the Company shall not be bound
to give notice of any resolution or to circulate any statement
as mentioned above unless:

(i)  a copy of the requisition signed by the requisitionists,
or two or more copies which between them contain
the signatures of all the requisitionists, is deposited at
the registered office of the Company:

- in the case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution, not less than six weeks before the
meeting; and

- in the case of any other requisition, not less than
one week before the meeting;

(i) there is deposited or tendered with the requisition
a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expense in giving effect to the procedures regarding
the giving of notice of resolution and/or circulation of
statement,
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Provided that if, after a copy of the requisition requiring
notice of a resolution has been deposited at the registered
office of the Company, an AGM is called for a date six
weeks or less after the copy has been deposited, the copy
though not deposited within the above-mentioned time
shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board
Shareholders are encouraged to communicate with the
Company for any enquiries in relation to the affairs of the
Group. Shareholders may contact the Company in writing or
by telephone or facsimile:

Address . Principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong — Unit 1002, 10/F,
Infinitus Plaza, 199 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong

Telephone :  +(852) 2530 9218

Facsimile :  +(852) 2525 2002

Attention : Board of Directors/Company Secretary
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ZHONGHUI
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited
IEEEEBRAR

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 79 to 143, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of
our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of
approximately HK$21,970,000 and operating cash outflow of
approximately HK$4,920,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023 and as at 31 December 2023 the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$201,133,000 and net liabilities
of approximately HK$200,818,000. These conditions indicate
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis,
the validity of which depends upon i) financial support from the
major shareholder; ii) the completion of the subscription of new
shares in the Company for the Group; and iii) the completion of
the subscription of convertible bonds to be issued by the Company
under the general mandate for the Group to meet its liabilities as
they fall due. The consolidated financial statements do not include
any adjustments that would result from the failure to obtain
the financial support. We consider that the material uncertainty
has been adequately disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements.

However, we were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to i) the validity of the
financial support from the major shareholder; ii) completion
of the subscription of new shares in the Company; and iii) the
completion of the subscription of convertible bonds to be issued
by the Company under the general mandate as described above.
There are no other satisfactory audit procedures that we could
adopt to determine whether the major shareholder and the
subscriber have the financial ability to honour the financial support
to the Group. We disclaim our opinion in respect of the material
uncertainty relating to the going concern basis.

Share of loss of associates and investment in associates

We have not been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence due to limited financial and corporate information
provided by the management to verify whether the Group’s share
of loss of associates of approximately HK$nil for the year ended
31 December 2022 is fairly stated. We were also not able to
satisfy ourselves as to (i) whether the net losses on disposal of
associates of approximately HK$143,566,000 for the year ended
31 December 2022 are fairly stated; and (ii) the accuracy of the
disclosures in relation to the investment in associates for the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

We have not been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence in relation to the fair value loss on an equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income of
approximately HK$14,620,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022 are fairly stated due to the ongoing litigation and the
Company could not obtain the financial information to measure
the fair value of such equity investment. However we are satisfied
that the balance of HK$nil of the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income as at 31 December 2023
and 2022 is fairly stated.

In addition, as stated in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had an other receivables amount of
approximately HK$77,812,000 resulting from the profits
guarantee arrangement which is secured by the equity interest
in the investment of the debtor. Since we have not been able to
obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence of the fair value
of such equity investment and the financial ability of the debtor,
we were unable to satisfy ourselves as to whether the impairment
losses on such other receivables of approximately HK$72,341,000
for the year ended 31 December 2022 are fairly stated. However,
we are satisfied that the balance of HK$nil of such other
receivables as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 is fairly stated.

Other receivables

We have not been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to whether the impairment loss on
other receivables of approximately HK$37,195,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022 is fairly stated, however we are satisfied
that the balance of HK$nil of such other receivables as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 is fairly stated.

Prepayment to a supplier

We were unable to obtain direct audit confirmation in relation to
the prepayment to a supplier and unable to obtain sufficient and
appropriate audit evidence to ascertain whether such prepayment
will be recovered, given the recoverability of the prepayment is
subject to the outcome of any negotiations or litigations which are
yet to materialize, we were therefore not able to satisfy ourselves
as to whether the impairment loss on prepayment to a supplier of
approximately HK$332,641,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022 is fairly stated, however we are satisfied that the balance of
HK$nil of prepayment to a supplier as at 31 December 2023 and
2022 is fairly stated.
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Disposal of subsidiaries

We have not been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence to verify whether the Group's loss on disposal
of subsidiaries of approximately HK$nil for the year ended
31 December 2022 are fairly stated due to limited financial
information of disposed subsidiaries provided by the management.
We were also not able to satisfy ourselves as to the accuracy of the
disclosures in relation to the disposal of subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Any adjustments to the figures as described above might have
a significant consequential effect on the Group’s financial
performance for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022
and the financial positions of the Group as at 31 December 2023
and 2022, and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated
financial statements.

Responsibilities of Directors for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “"HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue
an auditor's report. However, because of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we
were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fong Tak Ching

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P0O6353

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

reiRm /AR EMEE W@

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZZE - =F+ "B =+—HILFE

1R

2023 2022
—F-= S
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5% FHET TFHET
Revenue KA 7 = =
Cost of sales & A = =
Gross profit EF - -
Other income Hhg A 8 885 448
Administrative expenses TERSZ (22,354) (33,939)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMNBABZEE 30 (427) -
Net losses on disposal of associates & B /A B~ k518528 - (143,566)
Impairment loss on trade and FE S B2 5 7018 K ELAth FE UL R
other receivables ZREEE 12 = (443,098)
Loss from operations REESIE (21,896) (620,155)
Finance costs =YD %:N 10 (74) (154)
Loss before tax FRfRAIESHE (21,970) (620,309)
Income tax expense FriSM= 11 - -
Loss for the year TEEEE 12 (21,970) (620,309)
Other comprehensive losses: Hitt2EESE :
Items that will not be reclassified to & T G E# D IEE1Em 2
profit or loss: IHH :
Fair value changes of equity BAFESTAEMEEWA
investments at fair value through ~ Z A E A FEEE)
other comprehensive income - (14,620)
Items that may be reclassified to  BIFEE#T 7 E 8 m
profit or loss: EH
Exchange differences on translating & /BN EFS 2 B R ZEEE
foreign operations - Group —KxEH 670 (27,630)
Release of translation reserve upon & Bhe /A B R RBR IR E
disposal of associates E1E - 18,038
670 (9,592)
Other comprehensive income/ ZSEEHMEEUA
(loss) for the year (E548) 670 (24,212)
Total comprehensive loss FEEREEIRNTE
for the year (21,300) (644,521)
Loss for the year attributable to: YA F A TG EEEE :
Owners of the Company FA/NEIEZ DN (21,909) (620,248)
Non-controlling interests JEiER R (61) (61)
(21,970) (620,309)
Total comprehensive loss UFTALTEEEEERZT
for the year attributable to: ESiR4R%E -
Owners of the Company KABHEE A (21,190) (644,304)
Non-controlling interests JEER (110) (217)
(21,300) (644,521)
Loss per share SieEsiE 15
Basic (cents per share) BEK (&R (0.11) (3.05)
Diluted (cents per share) 8 (ZR) (0.11) (3.05)

EEEEBRAT —Z_=FFR
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ARE AR

At 31 December 2023 RZE-=F#+"8=+—H

2023 2022
—EC=H B
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B s FHEx FET
Non-current assets ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment ME-BE R E 16 315 423
Equity investments at fair value AT EF AREMEERA
through other comprehensive ZRERE
income 17 - -
Right-of-use assets FREEE 18 - =
315 423
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables EWE ZHRIEREMEWRZR 19 2,638 21,450
Bank and cash balances R1TRIRT4ERR 20 874 7,541
3,512 28,991
Current liabilities Bt B=RE
Trade and other payables ENESmEREMENRE 21 102,718 92,340
Loan from a shareholder —ZRBEZER 22 101,084 114,300
Lease liabilities HEaE 23 843 1,449
204,645 208,089
Net current liabilities RHaERE (201,133) (179,098)
Non-current liabilities ERHEE
Lease liabilities HEAaR 23 = 843
NET LIABILITIES BE3E (200,818) (179,518)
Capital and reserves B R#E
Share capital N 25 2,035,287 2,035,287
Reserves = 26(a) (2,237,474) (2,216,284)
Equity attributable to owners of ~— ZNAT A AFE(GREDR
the Company (202,187) (180,997)
Non-controlling interests JEITRGE 1,369 1,479
TOTAL EQUITY R 4BEE (200,818) (179,518)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 79 to 143 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28
March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Approved by:

Director

EF

AU TFTALTHREE :

BT ATHEE

Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes |

B m

S

I\‘7|_\

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EE —

= —

Attributable to owners of the Company

N Equity

/ \ n\EIn\

E-i— A= —l— HiEFE

FATHE NS
Equity
Share-based investment Non-
Share Share  Translation payment Other  revaluation Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
MRMAE RERE
Bt RNEE REEE ZRERE  EMER  EREEE RRBHR EI (3210 4 4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAr TiEn TiEn TET TEn TEn FEn TAn TAR
t1 January 2022 R-B-—%-F—H 2035287 2,123214 41908 299226 23901)  (5743) (3872868 463307 169% 465003
Lapsed of share options BRERY - - - (25,108) - S 25,108 S S S
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEERARRLE - - (9,436) - = (146200 (620,248)  (644,304) @17 (644,521)
At 31 December 2022 WoB-—£+-A=+-R 2035287 2123214 (51344) 274,118 23901) (70363 (4468,008) (180997 1479 (179518)
t 1 January 2023 RZBZ=£-F-B 2,035,287 2123214 (51,344) 274118 (23,901) (70,363)  (4,468,008) (180,997) 1479 (179,518)
Expired of share options FER R - - - (39,814) - - 39,814 - - -
Total comprehensive incomefoss) for the year  AEEREMA/ (58) B8 - - 719 = - @y @119 (110) (1,300
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=E+-A=+-H 2035287 2123214 (50625 234,304 23901)  (10363)  (4450,103)  (202,187) 1369 (200818)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
I\\/_I_\ Iﬁi/}ﬁ%%

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & E T - =HF+"HF=+—HIEFE

2023 2022
ZEZ=HF BT F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Cash flows from operating activities (EEFHZIREHE
Loss before tax FRF AT ES 18 (21,970) (620,309)
Adjustments for: P NIBEEFH 2 R
Interest income FEWA (5) (10)
Finance costs L& R 74 154
Depreciation of property, plant ME- -BEREBITE
and equipment 108 485
(Reversal of impairment losses)/ FE U & 5 =118 K EAth
impairment losses of trade and fEW R 2 (RI{ERS1E
other receivables #[B) REEE (875) 443,098
Impairment of property, plants M- -BEREREZRE
and equipment - 510
Loss on disposal of associates HEBSE QB ZEE - 143,566
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR ZEE 427 -
Loss on disposal of property, HEME -BEREREZ
plant and equipment [E518 - 14
Operating cash flow before working BEEEHR 2 RERE
capital changes ME (22,241) (32,492)
Change in inventories EFEEEF) = 103
Change in prepayments, deposits and FETE 2 R E AU
other receivables i) 5,517 4,949
Change in accruals and other payables FEST & B & M E (I s EE) 11,804 10,420
Cash used in operations SEMARE (4,920) (17,020)
Tax paid BRIE - =
Net cash used in operating activities (& FEIFFAIRE FEE (4,920) (17,020)

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2023



Consolidatead Statement of Cash Flows

Eﬁﬁ/)ﬂ%%

/\\7|_\
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZZE - =F+ "B =+—HILFE
2023 2022
“EZ=HF -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Cash flows from investing activities  EEEHZIRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BE B2 BE K& - (137)
Interest received BUH) 2 5 10
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWZE Fﬁ?%&%ﬁﬁ
plant and equipment PSR IE - 116
Proceeds from disposal of investment HERBE @ﬁZTﬁiﬁ
in associates Frig=rIg - 19,795
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEWBABMERE
of subsidiaries TR (10) =
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEEH (FrA) PSR E
investing activities FEE (5) 19,784
Cash flows from financing activities  RIE EBZIRERE
Interest paid BEAHE (74) (154)
Repayment for lease liabilities BIEHEEaE (1,449) (1,845)
Net cash used in financing activities  RAE;ZEIFRAIRS FEE (1,523) (1,999)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERBR&EEYZ
cash equivalents iwL) YEhniEEE (6,448) 765
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ~ REVIZIREMIREEFEY
of year 7,541 16,435
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate JMNiSPE R B H) » FL £ (219) (9,659)
Cash and cash equivalents at RERZRERINEEEN
end of year 874 7,541
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RERRELEEMDF
Bank and cash balances RIT MR E AR 874 7,541
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Are M ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE —_E - =—F+ "B =+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited was incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited liability. The address
of its registered office is Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda. The address of its
principal place of business is Unit 1002, 10th Floor, Infinitus
Plaza, 199 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong. The
Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) were development
of high- tech electric motor vehicles, development and
sales of battery management systems and spare parts and
development of advanced batteries materials. The principal
activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$21,970,000
and operating cash outflow of approximately HK$4,920,000
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and as at 31
December 2023 the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$201,133,000 and net liabilities of
approximately HK$200,818,000. These conditions indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. Therefore, the Group may be unable to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 i 2 —_E - =—F+_"_HA=+—HIFE

GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continued)

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends
upon i) financial support from the major shareholder; ii)
the completion of the subscription of new shares in the
Company for the Group; and iii) the completion of the
subscription of convertible bonds to be issued by the
Company under the general mandate, at a level sufficient
to finance the working capital requirements of the Group.
The major shareholder has agreed to provide adequate
funds and the respective subscribers had conditionally
agreed to subscribe for new shares and convertible bonds
in the Company for the Group to meet its liabilities as they
fall due. The directors are therefore of the opinion that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis. Should the Group be unable to
continue as a going concern, adjustments would have to be
made to the consolidated financial statements to adjust the
value of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets
and liabilities, respectively.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new
and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants that are relevant to its operations and
effective for its accounting year beginning on 1 January
2023. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards;
and Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised
HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to the Group’s
accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s financial
statements and amounts reported for the current year and
prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group
has already commenced an assessment of the impact of
those new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position
to state whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have
a material impact on its results of operations and financial
position.
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I\Iotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

l\vT\

SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & E T - =HF+"HF=+—HIEFE

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income which is carried at its fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors
to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the
current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities
that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control

is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date the control ceases.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= AL o =
TR ERIRMIET
For the year ended 31 December 2023 iZE“ZE - =F+"F=+—HILFE
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. FJAGHEBEZIE (@)

INFORMATION (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement
of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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I\Iotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

l\vT\

SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & E T - =HF+"HF=+—HIEFE

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. HAE

INFORMATION (Continued)

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity
but is not control or joint control over those policies. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible, including potential
voting rights held by other entities, are considered when
assessing whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes to
significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial
ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method and
is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities
of the associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as
goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying amount of
the investment and is tested for impairment together with
the investment at the end of each reporting period when
there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and
its share of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is
recognised in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative
post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share
of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in
the associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the
Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only
after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 i 2 —_E - =—F+_"_HA=+—HIFE

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4.
INFORMATION (Continued)

Associates (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results
in a loss of significant influence represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in that
associate and (ii) the Group's share of the net assets of
that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating to that
associate and any related accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve. If an investment in an associate becomes
an investment in a joint venture, the Group continues
to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the
retained interest.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values
in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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I\Iotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

lﬁF

SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE _=F+_HA=+—HIEE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. SAGHBEZIE (@)

4,

INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company's presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

-  Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
and of borrowings are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= AL o =
TR ERIRMIET
For the year ended 31 December 2023 iZE“ZE - =F+"F=+—HILFE
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. FJAGHEBEZIE (@)

INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their costs less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.
The principal useful lives are as follows:

Leasehold improvements,
fixtures and fittings

Over the expected useful lives
of 5 to 10 years or over the
term of lease, whichever is
shorter

Furniture and equipment 5 years

Machineries 5 to 10 years

Motor vehicles 4 to 10 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and machinery pending installation,
and is stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation
begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & E T - =HF+"HF=+—HIEFE

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. HAE

INFORMATION (Continued)

Lease

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to
write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:
Land and buildings 33.3% - 50%
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group's incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term
leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or
less. Low-value assets are assets of value below US$5,000.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. FJAGHEBEZIE (@)

INFORMATION (Continued)

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. An internally
generated intangible asset arising from the Group's
development is recognised only if all of the following
conditions are met:

- An asset is created that can be identified (such as
software and new processes);

- It is probable that the asset created will generate
future economic benefits; and

- The development cost of the asset can be measured
reliably.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.
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4,

INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and
are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at
fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost; and

- Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income;

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of
the following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost

using the effective interest method less loss allowance
for expected credit losses.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. BAEHHEZTE @)

INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i) Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income
On initial recognition, the Group can make an
irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument
basis) to designate investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading as at fair value through
other comprehensive income.

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are subsequently measured at
fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in
fair values recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the equity investment revaluation
reserve. On derecognition of an investment, the
cumulative gains or losses previously accumulated
in the equity investment revaluation reserve are not
reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends on these investments are recognised in
profit or loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit
losses are the weighted average of credit losses with the
respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to the expected credit losses that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of that
financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”)
for trade receivables and lease receivables, or if the credit
risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition.

TREE (@

(i) BAFEFARMEEUAZR
FTRE
PR FEB I » REE B LA A
HEt (@R TREE) BEiEE
EXFFIFEBEBZRATARE
HBAFESFAEMEERUA

BAFESF ARMEEBRAZR
FREEBRBATEFE MA
FEEFHEEZ REMBEIE
thEERARRES TRRAKRE
BREBTRE - REBUNRRESE —
ERER > UMERRERESMG
FEPRBRZ R WEHGEER

SEMOBERT-

BRIERSREZREBREARY
B D REMA > BRI IEm g

A
=J]
ae ©

LIRS B RET G R AR
AEERRBHENIFEZEHMEE
ZHRBEEEERBEERIE R
EEBEEAMBRENRBRINEZM
BFHEEBE-

Tt F& U & 5 ™R 1A K fE AR B R IE T
S HMEREERIAZEERRE
P HERLURERE L B &R
BREPRBBFNABE R ERZR
THTARRAFHRNLEZENEMH
PREEZFRRESHEESE (R
HEEER) StEZEEM T AR
BIRZ &R

EEEEBRAT —Z_=FFR

95



96

I\Iotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

l\vT\

SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & E T - =HF+"HF=+—HIEFE

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4.

INFORMATION (Continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses
(Continued)

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade receivables) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at
an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit
losses that represents the expected credit losses that result
from default events on that financial instrument that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. HAE

INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time
if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance;

- the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

- the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the product or service.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.
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INFORMATION (Continued)

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the end
of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged in profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4.

INFORMATION (Continued)

Share-based payments
The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain directors, employees and consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of the equity
instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group'’s estimate of shares that will eventually
vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are
measured at the fair value of the services rendered or if
the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably
measured, at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group
receives the services and is recognised as an expense.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. FJAGHEBEZIE (@)

INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and its joint ventures, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. HAE

INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if
any of the following conditions applies:

0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(viii)

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. HAE

INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group’s
various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
productions processes, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Impairment of assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not yet
available for use are reviewed annually for impairment and
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets other
than investments, inventories and receivables, to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. FJAGHEBEZIE (@)

INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.
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4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. HAE

INFORMATION (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group's position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and
are reflected in the financial statements. Events after the
reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations,
which are dealt with below).

(a) Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity
of which depends upon i) financial support from
the major shareholder; ii) the completion of the
subscription of new shares for the Group; and iii)
the completion of the subscription of convertible
bonds to be issued by the Company under the
general mandate, at a level sufficient to finance the
working capital requirements of the Group. Details
are explained in note 2 to consolidated financial
statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and
doubtful debts based on assessments of the
recoverability of the trade and other receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise
where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be collectible. The
identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the
use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual
result is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of the trade
and other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in
the year in which such estimate has been changed.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 5.

ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
The Group determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for
the Group’s property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the
actual useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
The Group will revise the depreciation charge where
useful lives and residual values are different to those
previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold.

(c) Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is determined with reference
to the present value of estimated future cash flows.
Where the future cash flows are less than expected or
there are unfavourable events and change in facts and
circumstance which result in revision of future estimate
cash flows, a material impairment loss may arise.

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6.

The Group'’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group's overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the Hong Kong dollars and United States
dollars and Renminbi. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities.
The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
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(b)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &/ & —

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HEREMBEE (&)
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The functional currency of certain major subsidiaries
of the Group is RMB. The Group is mainly exposed to
currency risk between RMB and USD.

At 31 December 2023, if the RMB had weakened 5
per cent (2022: 5 per cent) against the US dollar with
all other variables held constant, consolidated loss
after tax for the year would have been HK$nil (2022:
HK$67,000) higher, arising mainly as a result of the
foreign exchange loss on monetary items denominated
in US dollar. If the RMB had strengthened 5 per cent
(2022: 5 per cent) against the US dollar with all other
variables held constant, consolidated loss after tax for
the year would have been HK$nil (2022: HK$67,000)
lower, arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange gain on monetary items denominated in US
dollar.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the cash and bank balances,
trade and other receivables, investments and derivative
financial instruments included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the
Group's financial assets.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales
are made to customers with an appropriate credit
history. The credit risk on bank and cash balances is
limited because the counterparties are banks with high
credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HEREEIE (&)
(Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of financial assets on
an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period
by comparing the risk of a default occurring as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially
the following information is used:

internal credit rating;

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

- significant changes in the value of the collateral
or in the quality of guarantees or credit
enhancements; and

- significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the borrower, including
changes in the payment status of borrowers.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a
debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment. A default on a financial asset
is when the counterparty fails to make contractual
payments within 60 days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.
The Group normally categorises a loan or receivable
for write off when a debtor fails to make contractual
payments greater than 360 days past due. Where
loans or receivables have been written off, the Group,
if practicable and economical, continues to engage
in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the
receivable due.
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6.
(Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

The Group uses two categories for non-trade loan
receivables which reflect their credit risk and how
the loan loss provision is determined for each of the
categories. In calculating the expected credit loss
rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each
category and adjusts for forward looking data.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. B#EEMEIR (8)

EERRE (&)
rEREAWMEFEZRKE
o U DR RRELER ZEE R
BRI L& E R E E BB
BREBH NG BERAGEEREX
Ko AEEEEZRSEHNZEL
5 18 0 i A0 BE 1 B 1F 5B

(b)

o
Category Definition Loss provision B/ TR GRS
Performing Low risk of default and 12 month expected Bam BAERER 12EREHER
strong capacity to pay  losses IREENE
Non-performing  Significant increase in -~ Lifetime expected losses TEH GERKREEZ 2HEHREE
credit risk +F
Total
aast
2023 2022
k> St - BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
Other loans receivables HithEWER 68,908 68,908
Provision for loss allowance IR AR EE (68,908) (68,908)
Carrying amounts REEA = -
Expected credit loss rate FRHAEEEIEX
2023 BT =F 100%
2022 BT F 100%
Loss allowance at 1 January 2022 RZZE-_"HF—F—HZ
EEAHR 68,908
Decrease in provision in 2022 = =5 = ) =
Loss allowance at 31 December (‘:giiﬁﬂ—_ﬂ
2022 and 1 January 2023 =F—HRIZEZ=
—ﬁ HZEBEBIR 68,908
Decrease in provision in 2023 TETFEBHRBD =
Loss allowance at 31 December PR _ZE_=F+_4
2023 = +—HBZBEER 68,908
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. BiERSEIER (4B)
(Continued)

6.

(0

(d)

(e)

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities
is as follows:

(0

MENE £ Az
REBZHRATHERER R
FEHRRBESRE  BAREFE
HREHEE BAEARRER
ZhHEEEEo

rEETRERZERBERSM
LI

Total
contractual
undiscounted
cash flow
Carrying amount within 1 year
—FRZEL
KRR E
IRE®EA e
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFAT FET

At 31 December 2023 W-E-=%+=-HA=+—H
Trade and other payables FE (T B 5 I8 K EL A FE TR 102,718 102,718
Loan from a shareholder —ZREZE™M 101,084 101,084
203,802 203,802

At 31 December 2022 R-E_"_F+°-HA=+—H
Trade and other payables FE(T B 5 718 K EL A FE T =R 92,340 92,340
Loan from a shareholder —HREZE®R 114,300 114,300
206,640 206,640

Interest rate risk

At 31 December 2023, as the Group has minimal
exposure to interest rate risk, the Group's operating
cash flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates.

Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HEREMBEE (&)
(Continued)

(f) Categories of financial instruments at 31 f MW+ B=+—HzZE&®I
December B1ER
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets at amortised BEEN At EY
cost (including cash and cash THMEE (BERE
equivalents) KIREEBEY) 2,821 28,300
Equity investments at fair value  ZAFESFAHMEZEUHA
through other comprehensive ZRAEE
income = -
Financial liabilities =B RE
Financial liabilities at BEERAtE
amortised cost TREE 203,802 206,640
7. REVENUE 7. WA
The Group's revenue represents sales and service income of REFEZIWAEENEEZARE R
battery management systems and spare parts. HEHHEERRFBUIA o
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
Sales and service income of BHNEERRRERE T
battery management systems & RE IR FF WA

and spare parts - -
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7. REVENUE (Continued)

7.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers:

WA (&)

KERRENZWARSD !
2023 2022
—E-=% =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEx FET

Geographical markets HMEHS
The People’s Republic of China

(the "PRC")

hE ARHEAME (THhE))

FEER R

Major products/service
Sales and service income of

BNEEAGKERBET

battery management systems 4 & RE S AR U A
and spare parts = -
Timing of revenue recognition WA FEsRBFRY

A E — B 2L

At a point in time

Sales and service income of battery management
systems and spare parts

The Group sells battery management systems and spare
parts to the customers. Sales are recognised when control
of the products has transferred, being when the products
are delivered to a customer, there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products
and the customer has obtained legal titles to the products.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
to the customers as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms
of 30 to 90 days. For new customers, deposits or cash on
delivery may be required. Deposits received are recognised as
a contract liability.
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8. HfthlkA

8. OTHER INCOME

2023 2022

—E-= BT

HK$'000 HK$'000

FA&T FHET

Interest income ) B U A 5 10

Government grants BT B - 264
Reversal of allowance for trade and FEWE S IB R EMthEWI 2

other receivables B 875 =

Others Hith 5 174

885 448

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business units
that offer different products. They are managed separately
because each business requires different technology and
marketing strategies. The Group has three reportable
segments: development of high-tech electric motor vehicles,
development and sales of battery management systems
and spare parts and development of advanced batteries
materials.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements. Segment profits or losses do not
include unallocated corporate income and expenses.
Segment assets do not include unallocated corporate assets.
Segment liabilities do not include unallocated corporate
liabilities. Segment non-current assets do not include
financial instruments, deferred tax assets, post-employment
benefit assets and rights arising under insurance contracts.

AEPE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HIZE-“ZT-_=F+"HA=+—HIEFE
SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. SEPEH (@
Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets ERUERHENNEE - BEEHA
and liabilities: aEzER
Battery
High-tech  management Advanced
electric motor systems and batteries
vehicles spare parts materials Total
EHEERS
EHEEEHE kEmfEt KETHMY @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TEx TEr
Year ended 31 December 2023: HEZFE-=F+-8
=+—HLEFE:
Revenue WA - - - -
Segment loss EEE (4,001) 271) (154) (4,426)
Depreciation e - - - -
Other material non-cash items: HtEAFREER
Additions to segment REDWIFERHEE
non-current assets = = = =
At 31 December 2023: RZEZZ&+ZR
=+-8:
Segment assets NBEE 269 1,229 87 1,585
Segment liabilities NEERE 6,865 5,494 1 12,360
Year ended 31 December 2022: HE-E-"F+_-H
=+—HLEEE:
Revenue WA - - - -
Segment loss NEEE (417,551) (3,134) (174) (420,859)
Depreciation e (91) (203) (17) 311)
Other material non-cash items: EMERFREEE .
Additions to segment REDBERDEE
non-current assets = = = =
At 31 December 2022: W-E--5+ZH
=+-B8:
Segment assets NHEE 3,670 345 248 4,263
Segment liabilities NHas 6,331 6,015 1 12,347
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 EE —

AR MIEE

—Ft+RB=t+—HILFE

= —

S

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. ERER (&)
Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit and AIEMDERA G REE - BEH
loss, assets and liabilities: BEHE:
2023 2022
—¥_-= B
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
Revenue: KA :
Total revenue of reportable Al 2D EWA LR SUA
segments and consolidated G
revenue - =
Profit or loss: EFIERESE -
Total loss of reportable segments A2} DB ESIEAEER (4,426) (420,859)
Corporate and unallocated NCIVE ) @B/M%UJZEHTE
profit or loss (17,544) (199,450)
Consolidated loss for the year KEEFEEEIR (21,970) (620,309)
Assets: B5E:
Total assets of reportable segments  B] 2K 9D EE EALE 1,585 4,263
Corporate and unallocated assets: AR &ADEE
— Equity investments at fair = Q’&ﬁfﬁﬁ)\ﬁ@’i\ﬁ
value through other WAZBAKE
comprehensive income - -
— Bank and cash balances held —AEBBIIFE ZIRTT
by the Group’s headquarters FIRE AR 113 1,520
— Others —HAth 2,129 23,631
Consolidated total assets LEBEERE 3,827 29,414
Liabilities: afE:
Total liabilities of reportable A E2® DT aEREE
segments 12,360 12,347
Corporate and unallocated liabilities AT RANDEEE
— Others —HAth 192,285 196,585
Consolidated total liabilities e BaEBEE 204,645 208,932
EEEEBERAT —S_=FF% 117
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Are M ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HIZE-“ZT-_=F+"HA=+—HIEFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information:
In presenting the geographical information, revenue is based
on the location of the customers. All revenue generated
from PRC.
Revenue from major customers:
No revenue from customers individually contributed more

than 10% of the total consolidated revenue of the Group
for the year (2022: nil).

9.

SEPER (48)

&R

SEHMEBERE AT UER PR
M AERE - FRAW A RE P -

TEZRWBA

FERFEEL Z WA B L AEB LR
EWAMBEION U E(CE - —&F:

P
4iE) o
i

2023 2022
—EC-=H _ECF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FET
Non-current assets (other than ERHEE
financial assets): (FEEFEMEE) .
Hong Kong and others 8 R HAoh 315 423
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. B2
2023 2022
—E-=F —ETTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEx FET
Lease interests HEFE 74 154
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JANA AN

e R RMYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 i 2 —_E - =—F+_"_HA=+—HIFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

11.

FriSHX
2023 2022
—E-= B4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET

Current tax - PRC Enterprise
Income Tax
Provision for the year

BPEAR IR — P 2 FR1S AR

EFEEE

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
for the year as the Group did not generate any assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong (2022: nil).

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the

AR AEEETEBLEEEEFER
oA BN ER L ERE BN SR
fEHE C22F 1| -

Ht @R EH 2 RBEZHHE

RAEEBEEXHAERRZIBITE
B RERER REBTRERFE

PR KB 2 BRI RIS 1B U T A F)

product of loss before tax multiplied by Hong Kong Profits BRMEZBHERWT !
Tax rate is as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
Loss before tax PRI BIES 18 (21,970) (620,309)
Tax on loss before income tax, RAERMBR AEEEBRN
calculated at the rates applicable wA R MR B
to profit/loss in the tax FIRCL I Fi= P
jurisdictions concerned (3,636) (124,109)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BAEZFRBAZRBZZE (1) (43)
Tax effect of non-deductible AL 2 RBETE
expenses 3,637 124,152

Income tax expense for the year

AEEPISIRAX

EEEEBRAT —Z_=FFR
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= AL o =3
e TSI R MYEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HIZE-“ZT-_=F+"HA=+—HIEFE
12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

12. REEEE

The Group's loss for the year is stated after charging/ RNEBMZAFEFBRIOR (6

(crediting) the following:

A THIRIEBER

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Auditor’s remuneration ZEEMBN &= 1,300 1,300
Depreciation of property, plant MR REEITE

and equipment 108 485
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AT ZEE (HI:E30)

(note 30) 427 -
Net losses on disposal of associates — HHEME AT ~ k518358 - 143,566
Impairment of property, plant Y2~ R s B 2 RE

and equipment - 510
(Reversal of impairment losses)/ FEUR B S IE K E U 2

impairment losses of trade and CREEIBEE) RERE

other receivables (note) (N (875) 443,098
Net exchange loss/(gain) EREE, W) $E8 16 (216)
Staff costs including directors’ BTHA (BIEESS)

emoluments

— Salaries, bonus and allowances — ¥ AL R RAL 12,817 18,027

— Retirement benefits scheme —RIRFEH) 5T B HR

contributions 340 388
13,157 18,415
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= AL o =
SRR R R MEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023 iZE“ZE - =F+"F=+—HILFE
12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued) 12. XEEEE (@)

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2022, in respect of the
dispute between the Group and Townsend Ventures LLC, XALT
Energy LLC and XALT Energy MI, LLC (collectively “XALT"), the
Company consulted its United States legal adviser and received
a legal opinion, pursuant to which the legal adviser is of the
view that, as the Company and XALT did not follow through the
arbitration process against each other for over three years, each
of the Company and XALT lost its rights to claim any damages
or compensation from each other. Accordingly, an impairment of
approximately HK$332,641,000 has been made by the Company on
the respective balance during the year ended 31 December 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has also
applied to the competent authority to enforce an arbitration award
regarding the profit guarantee resulting from the profit guarantee
arrangement in respect of Jilin Meilai Zhongxin Timber Company
Limited* HMERPEARERRLAT (“Jilin Meilai”, together
with its subsidiaries, “Meilai Group"”) as disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 4 September 2020 which is
secured by the equity interest in the investment of the debtor.
Despite a ruling was made by the relevant arbitration commission in
favour of the Company and the Company has attempted to enforce
the arbitration award to recover assets from the guarantors in view
of settling all or part of the compensation payable by the
guarantors to the Company, the competent authority considered
the guarantors do not have the capability of settling any of the
compensation payable to the Company. Accordingly, the Company
made an impairment in full of HK$72,341,000 on the respective
other receivables during the year ended 31 December 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, certain of the trade
and other receivables was long overdue, the Company internally
assessed the recoverability of the trade and other receivables and
made an impairment of approximately HK$38,116,000 on the trade
and other receivables.

*  For identification purpose only

5T

REE_Z-_—_F+-A=+—HIEHF
= fiAEE ETownsend Ventures LLC»
XALT Energy LLCEZXALT Energy MI, LLC (4%
FBIXALT)) 2B a4 KRB BEBHE
EEAEBEBTWENEEER &I A2
BEER A HRAARRXALTRBEE =4
WEREHHBILNGERESR WAQE
BXALTE BELAEH A RREMIBEEE
RBENEN -FLL KRB EREBEZS
T TE+ZA=+—HIEFEMERLSH
STHRIEEAY332,641,0005 7T ©

REBEEZZT__F+_FA=+—HILF
E>AABNERETERBHFATEAN
BHMBS—E_TFEN BB ZAMATIK
EAEMEMERFEREZARAD (HM
ERERHEMNBARREERER) B
B RE ZHEE L REF (RE (UEF AR
BRIRIE(FIRIR) B EE R - B E RS
BEZEGHRERBBH ARFEER
MATHESOR RERAKLDEE  LUSE
BRABNRAT Z 2R E D E - 1
TERBRIRBRALEENFERLE
RENEEAE AL ZABRBEE_Z
&+ RB=+—-HIEFERBEREM
FEWGR B BT ERAIE72,341,00078 7T °

REE_E-__F+-"B=+—HLF
> BN E TR E 5 =08 B A W
BHEA > KRB AT EHEKRE 78
B ELAth FE W =r B9 AT Uk (2114 - 3f A FE UK BB 53
%E&Em%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ@ﬁ%JMﬁm
$E o

EEEEBRAT —Z_=FFR
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AR e R RMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HIZE-“ZT-_=F+"HA=+—HIEFE

13. EERESZHME

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments of each director were as follows: BREEVMES
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
BIKER
e EHEREE sHEI R k]
2023 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
b .- Bk TERT TER TERT TAET
Executive Directors: WITES:
Dr. Yeung Yung (I 78 - - 78
Mr. Feng Rui BHRE (@) 80 1,600 14 1,694
Mr. Liu Stephen Quan RKE 80 = = 80
Mr. Li Zhengshan FEWEE 80 44 13 137
Mr. Chen Xiao BREESE 80 44 14 138
Non-executive Director: FRITES
Dr. Xia Tingkang, Tim BEREL 312 - - 312
Independent Non- Executive I JFHITES
Directors:
Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace THIREE (© 160 - = 160
Mr. Cheng Tat Wa WEELY (d) 160 - - 160
Dr. Zhu Guobin REGRIEL 312 - - 312
Dr. Li Jianyong FEREEL 160 - - 160
Mr. Chan Sin Hang BEELL (d) 160 - - 160
Mr. On Ka Shing ZEMSTE (e) - - - -
1,662 1,688 4 3,391
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 i 2 —_E - =—F+_"_HA=+—HIFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’' 13. EERESZME (@)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and scheme
Fees allowances  contributions Total
BARER]
e FehoEH A k]
2022 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
_EBCFE BiE AT TAT FTHAT TAT
Executive Directors: HTEE !
Dr. Yeung Yung MEiEL 78 - - 78
Mr. Feng Rui Ve (@ 80 1,615 24 1,719
Mr. Liu Stephen Quan YRRt 80 - - 80
Dr. Zhu Shengliang SBREBL (b) 80 = = 80
Mr. Li Zhengshan FEWEE 80 50 31 161
Mr. Chen Xiao BBt 80 58 31 169
Non-executive Director: EHTES:
Dr. Xia Tingkang, Tim BiEEEL 312 - - 312
Independent Non- Executive ~ BuEHITES:
Directors:
Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace FEMELE © 160 = = 160
Mr. Cheng Tat Wa WEEry (d 160 = = 160
Dr. Zhu Guobin REGHIEL 312 - - 312
Dr. Li Jianyong FRERL 160 - - 160
Mr. Chan Sin Hang REHTE (d) 160 = = 160
1,742 1,723 86 3,551
Notes: FE -

Resigned with effect from 5 March 2024.

Passed away with effect from 29 December 2022.

Resigned with effect from 2 February 2024.

Resigned with effect from 21 March 2024.

Appointed with effect from 21 March 2024.

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the
year included one (2022: one) director, whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis above.

@ BIZ_WFE=ARREHF-
by MIZBZZF+-F-+hBRtt-
(0 BIZZHF-_B_HiEsHE-
(d BIZZHWE=AZ+—HiEsH T
(e) E:?:m&zﬁ:—i——ﬁﬁ%é

REFE  x&EBL{lisSHALTE
B2 CE2F: - EF KF
ZMEER LA DT RER

EEEEBRAT —Z_=FFR
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Ar o TS IR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE _=F+_HA=+—HIEE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' 13. EERESZME (&)

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

During the year, no discretionary or performance based E(\ZIKEE)’E‘ AEBUEAERESR
bonuses were paid by the Group to any of the directors or EMATEZNNBERERNCA
the highest paid individual, and no emoluments were paid ZK%?T#&F]E MESHEEIA
by the Group to any of the directors or the highest paid TEAEMAME FRARSIMARE
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the B S50 N A 7= £ [ BRF 2 22 B o R B AR
Group or as compensation for loss of office. Eo

There were no arrangement under which a director waived RAEAFE MEEEREXARAENRE
or agree to waive any remuneration during the year. EEIE I =z 28k

The number of non-director and non-chief executive N FEUTHEENEEERIER
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the THABNRSHEEABUT

following bands is as follows:

2023 2022

—E= B

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FET

Salaries and other benefits e REMER 2,820 3,422

Retirement benefits scheme BRIREFIET B

contributions 30 36

2,850 3,458

The number of non-directors, highest paid employees whose FMN U THENIFEERSHE
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: BAENT

2023 2022

Remuneration band N EEE == —EITH

Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,00078 T L~ 3 3

HK$1,000,001 — HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7t 21,500,000 7T 1 1
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

14. DIVIDENDS

15.

The directors do not recommend or declare the payment
of any dividend in respect of the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the loss
for year attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$21,909,000 (2022:
HK$620,248,000) and the weighted average number
of 20,352,873,000 (2022: 20,352,873,000) ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted loss per share
The effects of all potential ordinary shares are anti-
dilutive for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

G EM RN
—E-=&E+-A=+—ALEE

14. IR
EEYERBE_S_—&R_T

15.

T TE+TA=t—HLEFEEZEK
BHEIREMARKRE -

SRR

(a)

(b)

BREXEIE

NABEE ANELEREREE
TBEREAABDEE ANEGARE
FE &5 1843921,909,00058 7T (Z 2
— 4 : 620,248,000 T) K E
ANEBITEBRINEFHERE
20,352,873,0000 (& - "4 :
20,352,873,0008%) 5t& o

SRi#EEsE

S Sl S
+ZB=1+—HLEEE -FHEE
TEBRHEEEREETE

EEEEBRAT —Z_=FFR
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lﬁF

SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE _=F+_HA=+—HIEE
16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. ME -BERRE

Leasehold
improvements, Furniture
fixtures and and Motor  Construction
fittings equipment  Machineries vehicles in progress Total
HEMmERE.
BEREREH  HHkRE Ha "E EEIR )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR TEn TER TEn TEw AL
Cost E
At 1 January 2022 Sy = Rl 31,543 32,886 18,083 42,850 487 125,849
Additions HE - 137 - - - 137
Disposals HE - (392) - - = (392)
Exchange differences EREH 490) (1538) (177) (750) (60) (3015)
At 31 December 2022 and RZB2-—E+-A=+-Ak
1 January 2023 “$°-%-F-H 31,053 31,093 17,906 42,100 427 122,579
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR - (26) - - - (26)
Exchange differences BRER (147) (671) (56) (263) (10) (1,147)
At 31 December 2023 RZB=E+ZA=+-H 30,906 30,39 17,850 41,837 47 121,406
Accumulated depreciation BitERAE
and impairment
At 1 January 2022 R-B__&-F-H 31,215 32,299 18,083 42,170 487 124,254
Charge for the year Z!SEF 1k 185 4 - 25 = 485
Disposals e - 290) - = - (290)
Impairment HE % 414 - - - 510
Exchange differences BRER (443) (1374) (177) (749) (60) (2.803)
At 31 December 2022 and RZEZZE+ZA=+-HK
1 January 2023 = 31,053 31,093 17,906 4,677 427 122,156
Charge for the year REENR - - - 108 - 108
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAT - (26) - - - (26)
Exchange differences ERER (147) (671) (56) (263) (10) (1,147)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+ZA=+-H 30,906 30,39 17,850 41,522 47 121,091
Carrying amounts RESE
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+ZA=+-H - - - 315 - 315
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZ#+_F=1+-H - - - 43 - 43

As at 31 December 2023, the Group internally assessed

N _E_=ZF+_A=+—H &%
EABFEYE BB K&

SHEN_Z

the fair value of the property, plant and equipment as
at 31 December 2023 (the “Fair Value”). In assessing
whether impairment is required for the property, plant
and equipment, the carrying value is compared with
the respective recoverable amount. The Fair Value was
determined using the market approach. The recoverable
amount used in assessing the impairment loss is the fair
value less costs of disposal with reference to the Fair Value.
The Fair Value was under level 3 fair value measurement.
After impairment assessment by the management,
impairment loss of approximately HK$nil (2022:
HK$510,000) was recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZZE - =F+ "B =+—HILFE

17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

17. BAFEHFAEMZEIA

ZRRERE
2023 2022
—EC=H B2
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET

IE LR AEE 55

Unlisted equity securities

SMERPEARERRAT

SMERPEAERRAT

The above investment is intended to be held for the medium
to long-term. Designation of this investment as equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income can avoid the volatility of the fair value changes of
this investment to the profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group
entered into an agreement with an independent third party
to acquire the equity interest in Jilin Meilai at a consideration
of RMB60,000,000. Jilin Meilai is incorporated in the PRC
and is an unlisted limited liability company established in
the PRC under the PRC Law, which does not have quoted
market price in an active market. The Group intends to hold
the investment for long-term capital appreciation and has
no intention to dispose of the investment in the near future.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group holds 5% (2022: 5%)
equity interest in Jilin Meilai.

FARERFRAT B IEEZKRE
REATESFAEMEERAZRAE
KREABREZRENBEaZ A TFEE
EHIREH) -

RBEEZZE—XR"E+B=+—HIL
FE AERE—BXB/IUE=FE]IL
g 2B AR #60,000,0007T
WEEEMERZ IR o EMERNF
B 5E M Ak i > AR P EEA R E
Rz —MIELMBREEZAR H
REBTHBUEMBRE - AEEH
FEZREUERBEAAE BE
B EHAHEZRE- RIS Z=F
+ZRA=4+—H xEBFETME
RZ5% (ZTTTH 1 5%) iRt

EEEEBRAT —Z_=FFR
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R E R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & E T - =HF+"HF=+—HIEFE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. FRAEEE
At 31 December: ®w+=-—A=+—8:
2023 2022
—EZ=H B TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEx FET
Right-of-use assets ERAREE
— Land and buildings — T IEF - =
The maturity analysis, based on ERRMRREREZAEER
undiscounted cash flows, of HESGEIEEBER
the Group’s lease liabilities is as ﬁ*ﬁﬁlﬂz 5
follows:
— Less than 1 year — D 858 1,523
— Between 1 and 2 years —1E25 - 858
858 2,381
Year ended 31 December; HE+_A=1+—HILEFE:
Lease interests HEFE 74 154
Expenses related to short-term ERGHEEZHE
leases 526 -
Total cash outflow for leases HEZIRE R AREE 1,523 1,999

The Group leases various land and buildings.

Lease

agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 2 to 3
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants and
the leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing

purposes.
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= AL o =
SRR R R MEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023 iZE“ZE - =F+"F=+—HILFE
19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. FEUREE 5 FRIE B H {th FE UL Fh

2023 2022
—®-= -

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#T FHET

Trade receivables FEUW B Z 118 - 892
Less: impairment losses B ORERE = (892)
Prepayment to a supplier A —SHEERIE 332,641 332,641
Prepayments to others FENEMALRIE 4,817 4,895
Deposits and other receivables & K B E R 111,628 130,460
449,086 467,996
Less: impairment losses B RERE (446,448) (446,546)
2,638 21,450

2,638 21,450

Trade receivables FEW & 5 7RIE

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 to 90 days
to its trade customers. Each customer has a maximum credit
limit. For new customers, payment in advance is normally
required. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by the management.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on invoiced

FEBRTHESERZTHIEER
MIVEOR -BHEFHARBEE
RE-FMEFLMS > —MARAN
o AN B B D B B AR HE I B AR AR
2 FEUGR - EIEE E AR S A ARAS AR o

FEU B 5 R IR AL 70 8% 51 B B 0 PR B8

date, and net of allowance, is as follows: BRZIREDMAT
2023 2022
—E-= TETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET

0 to 60 days 0ZE60K

EEEEBRAT —Z_=FFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE _=F+_HA=+—HIEE
19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. FEUXEE 5 &hia Rk H fth EEYx =x

(Continued)

Impairment of trade receivables
Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables:

€
FEW B 5 B S

PR B Z Rk R R 2 HER

2023 2022
—T-= B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At beginning of the year i) (892) -
Decrease/(increase) in loss NEERIBEERLD (8N

allowance for the year 875 (921)
Currency realignment SRR 17 29
- (892)

Impairment of other receivables HME WS Z B E

Reconciliation of loss allowance for other receivables:

H A FE U R s 2 B8R

2023 2022

== -

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FAT

At beginning of the year ) (446,546) =
Impairment on other receivables Hh W~ & = (442,177)
Currency realignment SEigHEE 98 (4,369)
(446,448) (446,546)

As at 31 December 2022, included in other receivables
mainly represents an approximately of HK$19,178,000 are
consideration receivables from disposal of investments in
associates.

The management of the Company monitored the
collectability of these receivables closely with reference to
their respective current creditworthiness and repayment
records. As at 31 December 2023, all these receivables were
neither past due nor impaired. The management believes
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of
these receivables as they are considered fully recoverable.
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AL + 29
SR FRERFRMI T
For the year ended 31 December 2023 iZE“ZE - =F+"F=+—HILFE
20. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 20. SRITRIRELEER

N_E_=F+"B=+—H &%
BEUAREBFEZIRTRIBEEERG
#HA718,0008T (ZE__F 1 &
2,883,000/ 7T) ° RIAR K AINEE
BT hEINES HFRA)

As at 31 December 2023, the bank and cash balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$718,000 (2022: approximately HK$2,883,000).
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. BB R MRIERHEMEDER
2023 2022

—EBZ=H =B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Trade payables INI=RZEe 5,412 5,567
Amount due to a director B —%ESEIE 780 1,165
Accruals and other payables FEEHE A e EL A FE (TR 96,527 85,608
102,719 92,340

Trade payables FE{1 B Z7IR

The ageing analysis of the trade payables, based on the date FENEBEZMEENRKNERBHRZIR

of receipt of goods, is as follows: o™
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Over 360 days EBiB360K 5,412 5,567

BA—2EENEREER REX

Amount due to a director is unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand. B EREER-

22. LOAN FROM A SHAREHOLDER 22. lRREM
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on ERREAREBER RENRBRES
demand. BiEo

ERESEEERAT —E-=FEH 131
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SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE _=F+_HA=+—HIEE

23. LEASE LIABILITIES

24,

23. fHE&F

Lease payments

Present value of
lease payments

HEHE HETIARE
2023 2022 2023 2022
ZEC= CECCF ZEZ= _ECCF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TAT FAERT FET
Within one year —ER 858 1,523 843 1,449
In the second to fifth years, BFEFRE
inclusive (BEEEMSE) - 858 - 843
858 2,381
Less: Future finance charges B RRREL T (15) (89)
Present value of lease liabilities ~ THE&BERE 843 2,292 843 2,292
Less: Amount due for B RR2ERREIHRE
settlement within 12 Fz&5 G
months (shown under RBEET)
current liabilities) (843) (1,449)
Amount due for settlement R12ERREEHEN
after 12 months i - 843
At 31 December 2023, the average effective borrowing N _EC=_F+_HB=+—H’'¥H

rate was 4.7% (2022: 4.7%). Interest rates are fixed at
the contract dates and thus expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Employee retirement benefits

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund
scheme (the "MPF Scheme"”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is
a defined contribution retirement scheme administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
makes contributions to the scheme at 5% - 10% and
employees are required to make 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Mandatory contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately. No forfeited contributions for the
MPF Scheme may be used by the employer to reduce the
existing level of contributions as the contributions are fully
vested to the employee upon payments to the MPF Scheme.

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2023

24. iB

EREENEAL TR (ZE -
4.7%) o FIERE ﬁaﬁlmnﬁmﬁ
EEEH A FEMNEEAR -

REHSE

BERAKEF
AEERBESERSELBSFEME
FASAEMBEEKEEE N 183
flE~EEstE (afEEstEL) a2l
SHE D —ERBUEITAEEZR
EMFRIRETE o BRIz EEE B
TIREEHEBWBAZ5%E10%ME 12
;e MEERIBZS%HE S8 18
REUS A £ FE 230,000 7T - 8 & 5+ &
ZoRHIMEHRBN B o RN EERR
BESHEEHRELRTHE BN E
B HMEFFASFHBRESTEFE

RU R LUB VIR A HRRK T o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25.

AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 iZE“ZE - =F+"F=+—HILFE
24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 24. BREFIEHT (4B)

(Continued)

Employee retirement benefits (Continued)
Subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC participate in various
defined contribution retirement plans (“Plans”) organised
by local authorities for the Group's employees in the PRC.
The subsidiaries are required to contribute, based on a
certain percentage of the basic payroll, to the Plans. No
forfeited contributions will be used by the employer to
reduce the existing level of contributions. The Group has
no other obligation for the payment of pension benefits
associated with these Plans beyond the annual contributions
described above.

B ERBRAKEF ()
RABEFEMRIIZWERERNEER
ZHERESEBM G EEZHZT
B 5 E HRURINGT 8 (MR FFHEL) - &
EMBABRERBEAFHFEZETH
DM ZEFTEIHR - HED R UM
AR EE AR R IRA HRRKT -
frEMERZHERIN RER L EHM
HZEFEARZERRERBIARE
£

SHARE CAPITAL 25. g7
Number of
shares Amount
it ahE S 4= =R
HKD’000
THET
Authorised: EE -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 R ZE”"HF—HF—AB-
each at 1 January 2022, 2 _F+"HA=+—8H"
31 December 2022, —ET=F—HB—HK
1 January 2023 and T _F#+"H=+—H
31 December 2023 CEE0 BT ZERE 800,000,000,000 80,000,000
Number of
shares Amount
iaE S 4= &8
HKD'000
TFET
Issued and fully paid : BRTRER
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 AZE"F—HF—H-
each at 1 January 2022, B2 HE+"B=+—H"
31 December 2022, —ET_F#—H—HK
1 January 2023 and “2_=F+-HA=+—H
31 December 2023 SEE0 BT ERER 20,352,872,747 2,035,287

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maximise the return to the shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group reviews the capital structure frequently by
considering the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new
share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of
new debts, redemption of existing debts or selling assets
to reduce debts in order to maintain sufficiency of working
capital.

AEREEEAZ BRNLRELAER
REEEZEN TEBEBEREAR
BoERE e SRRAER
[E]% -

FERKEEREANENAERE
AR Z AR > LIRS BARE - A5
ERBEBKE BTHRORRKRAE
B ETHMER BRBEEEANHE
EERNR RARBZIEEES HRF
HEREARETE-

EEEEBRAT —Z_=FFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & E T - =HF+"HF=+—HIEFE

26. RESERVES

(a) The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement

26. (#fh&

(a) *EBRFFESERHEHETNES
BmMEMEERRERUAKREGES

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and ERmEEHRES o
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
(b) Reserves of the Company (b) ZE=AQE#EE
Share-based
Share  Contributed payment  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
LR RZ 2
R iR (E AR FIERE ZetisE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTET TET TET FET
At 1 January 2022 RZE__F—-H—H 2,123,214 94,601 299,226 (4,088,990) (1,571,949)
Lapsed of share options ~ FERRER - - (25,108) 25,108 -
Loss for the year AEEFE - - - (598,342) (598,342)
At 31 December 2022 RZE__&#+”"A=+—H 2,123,214 94,601 274,118 (4,662,224) (2,170,291)
At 1 January 2023 R_Z2-=%—F—H 2,123,214 94,601 274,118 (4,662,224) (2,170,291)
Expired of share options ~ EEA& EZIHA - - (39,814) 39,814 =
Loss for the year FEEER - - - (12,624) (12,624)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZZH+ZA=+—H 2123214 94,601 234304 (4,635034) (2,182,915

() Nature and purpose of reserves
(i)  Share premium account

Share premium represents premium arising from
the issue of shares at a price in excess of their
par value per share and is not distributable but
may be applied in paying up unissued shares of
the Company to be issued to the shareholders
of the Company as fully paid bonus shares
or in providing for the premiums payable on

repurchase of shares.
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26. RESERVES (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(i1)

(iii)

(iv)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company
represents the difference between the
consolidated shareholders’ funds of the
subsidiaries at the date on which they were
acquired by the Company, and the nominal
amount of the Company’s shares issued
for the acquisition at the time of the group
reorganisation prior to the listing of the
Company's shares in 1995.

Under the applicable laws of Bermuda, the
contributed surplus account of a company is
available for distribution. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if:

- it is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become
due; or

- the realisable value of its assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium accounts.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve has been established and
dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for foreign currency translation.

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted to employees
and consultants of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for equity-settled share-based payments in note
4 to the consolidated financial statements.

AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

— = —

TEBECC-F+"A=+—HLEE

26. {#E (48)
© EEUHEEREN @)

(i1)

(iii)

(iv)

BAZE

RRABZBABKRIINA
ARWERBLADERZ
SWBRAAZHEEGRER
ESHEREARA RN E
—ANBEFEETRETE
EEdAREAWEMETZ
RNATBIRRAD EERRE 2 E 8

REBREBRER —
BN B Z A B R AR P) i
73k o 28T 2 M IR LT B
o AR RB A EREEAR
B B K 3K AR B B fF
K -

— ERAENIRRIK
TRENZGIHE
&%

~ AAFEEZTRER
181 R EEAEG 4 A B
BB 81T R AR RAD
W EAR AR o

BRE#E
MEBEREDRBEINER
BRMZEHEERILK
BRiEo

LRID ST Z 70 Bl

Mg in 2 2B EE
R AR G M BRI E4RL
Mt m s B LU A 2
ZRRIERMN 2 & 5 BURFR
BRERAEEERRERENE
BREZBRIMGERT
ERERE#RB 2 AFE.

EEEEBRAT —Z_=FFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HIZE-“ZT-_=F+"HA=+—HIEFE

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 27. X F)MBIRRT

28.

THE COMPANY

2023 2022
—EC -
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#x FET
Current assets RHBEE
Prepayments, deposits and BN s R EMEURER
other receivables 1,387 1,055
Bank and cash balances IRITRIRE 4R 113 1,520
1,500 2,575
Current liabilities mENE(E
Accruals and other payables et &R R EMEIR 37,014 25,465
Amount due to a subsidiary FE(T Y B A B R IE 13,154 =
Loan from a shareholder —ZRBEZER 98,960 112,114
149,128 137,579
Net current liabilities mEaEEE (147,628) (135,004)
NET LIABILITIES BE3E (147,628) (135,004)
Capital and reserves B R#E
Share capital N 2,035,287 2,035,287
Reserves #E (2,182,915) (2,170,291)
TOTAL EQUITY REa4REE (147,628) (135,004)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 28. U ZzFHIE

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group's operations. Eligible participants
include the full-time and part-time employees, executives,
officers, directors, business consultants, agents and legal
and financial advisers of the Company and the Company’s
subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective on 13 June 2013
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in

force for 10 years from that date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 iZE“ZE - =F+"F=+—HILFE
28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 28. UUBgin 2 {32 FRIE (48)

The maximum number of shares issuable under unexercised
share options currently permitted to be granted under the
Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to
10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within
any 12- month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of shares
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time, within any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 30 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The
exercise period of the share options granted is determinable
by the directors, and commences after a certain vesting
period and ends on a date which is not later than five years
from the date of the offer of the share options or the expiry
date of the Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of the offer of the share options; (i) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
and (i) the nominal value of the Company’s shares on the
date of the offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

RGREZTEEERD ZRITER
RIERBIREETER I ETRNDZ
EeHER/EEREAREEALATE
BEITRM10% Z#EE - IMEM121E B
HEAREERET DX SRS
ER2AEEETZERESRNMBEUE
AREARABDEHTRNZ1% R
E—IRHBBIREBEZ BRERR
REAG LEmRRALE

BEAARNE-—EBEF RSTHRABRN
TERFARSEMBBEARLER
B REREHEBIUIFRITESE M E-
BE REF12ERHER BEAF
E—ITERRABUIFATESTNR
FEMHRBARHEBBEARBER
BB EITRMN01 %2 ERERE A
FERNERRAE LEHRRM -

RBREZZOFNAZNARE
T30 R AW MAR AR ER AL
fEeHf1BrzaENE -BEREER
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & E T - =HF+"HF=+—HIEFE

28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

28. LARR {32 4 2 7RIA (18)

Details of the specific categories of options are as follows:

BREZBROEFBOT

Date of grant

Exercise period

Exercise price

b =L {7fEHA 1TfEfE
2013 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 5 September 2023 HK$0.1080
2013 —E—=FNA7<H —E-=FNAAARHEE_=FNAAH 0.10807%8 7T
2014(a) 29 July 2014 29 July 2014 to 28 July 2024 HK$0.1136
2014(a) Z“ZE—MELtAZ+ANH —MFEEtAZ+ABEZZEMELA 0.11368 7T
_—H\EI
2014(b) 20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 19 November 2024 HK$0.2010
2014(b) “E2-MOF+—AZ+H = OF+—BZ+HEZIZMNF+—A 0.2010% 7T
+nH
2015 14 July 2015 14 July 2015 to 13 July 2025 HK$0.3950
2015 “E2—HFtA+IEH —AFtA+NAEZE-RELA+=H 0.3950% 7T
2016 9 December 2016 9 December 2016 to 8 December 2026 HK$0.2280
2016 “E-RETZANE B—RETZRBABEERE+"ZA/N\H 0.2280% 7
2017 20 January 2017 20 January 2017 to 19 January 2027 HK$0.1872
2017 E—+tF—HA”"+H E—tF B _+HEZE_tH—F+H 0.1872% 7T

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are
as follows:

FRERIEZBREZFBOT

2022
S

Weighted Weighted

average average

Number of exercise Number of exercise

share options price share options price

REHE METHTEE FEREHE METHTEE

HKS HKS

B BT
Outstanding at the beginning ~ RE# 8 K1TlE

of the year 1,549,000,000 0.223  1,549,000,000 0.223

Expired during the year RERZIH (454,500,000) 0.108 = =
Outstanding at the end RERERITE

of the year 1,094,500,000 0.223  1,549,000,000 0.223

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for
share options exercised during the year was HK$nil (2022:
HK$nil). The options outstanding at the end of the year
have a weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.82
years (2022: 1.73 years) and the exercise prices range from
HK$0.1136 to HK$0.395 (2022: HK$0.108 to HK$0.395).
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29. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 29

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

The table below lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the financial position of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end
of the reporting period are as follows:

e IR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZZE - =F+ "B =+—HILFE

TARNEEMBAB Z5*1E

TR EEDRHLFEXEREE
E%%ﬁyiﬁﬁiﬁﬁlﬁﬁkﬁk‘?RI%E

DZAERBMBAT - EFRT A =it
HtIWB AR ZHBERERATERT
Eo

RBERF AATEENBATZ
BN

Percentage
of the
Place of ownership
incorporation/ Issued/paid-up interest/
registration/ registered voting
Name operation capital power Principal activities
FriG B
AL, BT/ @/ ®Ak
&g it/ ERME HREEMRE aatt IEEH
Billion Energy Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% Investment holding
KEEEERAT &A AT REER
EEBIFEMERERAT" The PRC Registered capital of 60.21% Development of
(Lianyungang Hybrid Kinetic US$27,000,000 advanced battery
New Energy Co., Limited) materials
FE SHRER R TEE MK
27,000,000 7%
LEFEREEEERAR" The PRC Registered capital of 100% Provision of finance lease
RMB30,000,000 services
# SHRER RUAMERERS
A E%30,000,0007T
tJ These are companies established in the PRC with limited e ZERBBNPERILINBRAS

liability

EEEEBRAT —Z_=FFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HIZE-“ZT-_=F+"HA=+—HIEFE

29. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that
have non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the
Group. The summarised financial information represents
amounts before inter-company eliminations.

29.

TRBEEFEMBABZHE
=)

TRITHEEHETEBEMEBERZ
JRiEietEm (TFEERRHER ) 2B A
A& HMBERBEELETARM
KRz S8

Lianyungang Hybrid Kinetic New
Energy Co., Limited
EEBFEMERARAR

2023 2022
—EZ= B CHF
Principal place of business/country — EE&2MIE H A IR The PRC
of incorporation s
% of ownership interests/voting RS 2 AR 39.79% 39.79%
rights held by NCI KRB
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FET
At 31 December: ®w+=-—A=+—8:
Non-current assets ERBEE 301 386
Current assets MENEE 11,119 11,372
Current liabilities MEIEE (7,982) (8,064)
Net assets BEFE 3,438 3,694
Accumulated NCI RetIEEREm 1,368 1,470
Year ended 31 December: BE+-A=1+—HLEE:
Loss for the year KEERTE (154) (174)
Total comprehensive loss S EEBAREE (256) (499)
Loss for the year allocated to NCI PEEFERER I AFE
&518 (61) (69)
Net cash used in operating activities 4 & EEFT AR H48 (78) (29)
Net cash from financing activities MEEEPIFIRE S 145 =
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and IR&EKRIFEEEYEMN,
cash equivalents CRZL) 7378 67 (29)
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31.

AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 i 2 —_E - =—F+_"_HA=+—HIFE
30. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During 2023, the Group disposed some subsidiaries at a
cash consideration of HK$3.

30. HEMEBAE

R AEEURSAEDS
THEBHHBAT

Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows: RHEHBPZ FEENT

HK$'000

FHET

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TER 2 E R E AU 451
Bank and cash balances IR1TRIRELEER 10
Accruals and other payables FESHE A R H (IR (34)
Net assets disposed of PR EFEE 427
Release of translation reserve fRBR I B (A =
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (note 12) HEWBASZEIE (EE12) (427)
Total consideration - satisfied by cash MABE-UIREEN =
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEMELZIREMEIPE !
Cash consideration received BUIRENE =
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FAHERERIREEEY (10)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transaction
During the year, a loan from a shareholder of
approximately HK$13,154,000 was settled by the
consideration receivables from disposal of investment
in associates.

31. FARERERMF

(a) EIFRERH
MRAEE> —2REBEZERHN
13,154,000 B &8 HE R B
EANBZREZ BB EENS.

EEEEBRAT —Z_=FFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HIZE-“ZT-_=F+"HA=+—HIEFE

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 31. &8 ERERME @B)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing by EmEIZFIMEEZABRE
activities &
The following table shows the Company changes in TRIIREARBDFARRMEEE
liabilities arising from financing activities during the MELZz8EEE !
year:
Loan from a
shareholder Lease liabilities Total
—SRRZER HEafR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAET AT
At 1 January 2022 R_E__&F—F—H 114,487 4,137 118,624
Changes in cash flows Behegs - (1,999 (1,999)
Non-cash changes FREEE
- interest charged —FEZH - 154 154
Exchange difference ERZEHE (187) S (187)
At 31 December 2022 and ~ BZZEZZF+ZA=+—H 114,300 2,292 116,592
1 January 2023 h_E-=F—-A—H
Changes in cash flows BeR2EH - (1,523) (1,523)
Non-cash changes FREEY
— transfer from other —EREHEME (13,154) = (13,154)
receivables e
~ interest charged —FEZH - 74 74
Exchange difference ERELE (62) = (62)
At 31 December 2023 RZB_=F+"A=+—H 101,084 843 101,927
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 i 2 —_E - =—F+_"_HA=+—HIFE

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. BB RS
In addition to those related party transactions and balances RS BRREAMIOPAIRE 2 Z
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, ZRAM T R B R ERIN RERNFE
the Group had the following transactions with its related R A B TR .

parties during the year:

2023 2022

—E-= TETF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Amount due to a related party &< B Bt 5 =UIE 8,719 3,300
The amount due to a related party is is unsecured, interest- FEATREEE AR IBREER - RERE

free and has no fixed repayment terms. ElEEA

33. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED 33. H )i B7EHRER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and FEMBRXENRZZEZNF=A
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March “tHNHEEZESSHERBRRET)E
2024.
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Financial Summary

RATS IR

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of TX&HFIAEBRFTABTREE 2248
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from UREEREEHE LEHECERZE
the published audited financial statements and reclassified as TWZIFERE > LEEFHDLEE WER) :
appropriate, is set out below:

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
“2-hEFE EFE E--F —2-"fF ZEIZE
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK’000
FTER FET FAET AT FER
RESULTS E4 -}
Revenue A 16,342 21,825 2,571 = =
Loss before tax PRI A8 (643,846) (100,791) (55,253) (620,309) (21,970)
Income tax expense PSR - S = = =
Loss for the year NEERE (643,846) (100,791) (55,253) (620,309) (21,970)
Attributable to; MTFALFE:
Owners of the Company FN/NEIEZZSDN (644,022) (72,904) (55,239) (620,248) (21,909)
Non-controlling interests JEVERR TR 176 (27,887) (14) 61) (61)
(643,846) (100,791) (55,253) (620,309) (21,970)
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
_E-hE —E_EE "B _T__F ZBZ=
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
FER FET FER FAET FERT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAE
Total assets BEBE 711,742 710,635 674,754 29,414 3,827
Total liabilities BE48%E (144.,266) (202,837) (209,751) (208,932) (204,645)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/ (R FE 567,476 507,798 465,003 (179,518) (200,818)
Equity attributable to: MUFATFE(ERERR -
Owners of the Company ERATEE A 538,208 506,133 463,307 (180,997) (202,187)
Non-controlling interests JERERE 29,268 1,665 1,696 1,479 1,369

567,476 507,798 465,003 (179,518) (200,818)
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